Yuacrue AHrMKM B INOHCKHUX
uccaenosanusx B LenrpanbHoit Azuu.
Poan A.O. Xo66ca

B TpeThei akcnenuuuu Oranu

HPwmpe Tanambon:

" cropust [lesikoBoro myTH ckiafpiBaeTcs B eMHOE
MOCJef0BaTeNbHOE TOBECTBOBAHME K3 PACcCKasos
BEJIMKHX KCCAEA0BATENEH U YHEHBIX, KOTOPhIe coOpadtu
BEJUKOJIENHbIE KOJUICKIMH, HBbIHE XpaHslMecss B BeLyUHX
My3esix 1 6ubauorexax MHpa. MHOrHe U3 3THX vccie/loBaTeseH,
takue kak C.O. Oubpentypr, Ceen Iemun n Mapk Aypen Crefin,
B CBOE BpeMst GbijI B LIEHTPE BCEOOILIEr0 BHUMAHHS, W HX MMEHa
JI0 CHX TIOP X0pOoI10 u3BecTHbl. Ho MbI yacTo 3a6biBaem, 4TO 3TH
TPOC/IARJICHHBIE MCCEAOBATEM HUKOFA He pabotand B Oiu-
HOYKY, YTO y HHX ObLJIO MHOTO MOMOIIHHKOB, B GOJIbIIMHCTBE
CBOGM TPEICTABUTENEH MECTHOIO HACRJICHHS, KOTOPbIE TPYH-
JIECD MO/ MX PYKOBOACTBOM, TTyTELIECTBOBAJIH 10 TEM XKE MeCTam
1 BUAEJIH TO XKe CaMoe, YTO U OHM.

Cpe «akTepoB BTOPOro [J1aHa», Kotopsie B Hauade XX b.
BHecsIn CBOY BKaaz B nccnesopatue [lenkosoro nytn, ocoboe
mecto 3anumaet A.O. Xo66c (1892—1911). Bpurancku# noj-
JAHHDL, OH CONPOBOXKAAJ GYIMACKOro HaCTaBHUKa U3 flnonuu
TaruGauy II3yiré Bo Bpems ero aMOWIMO3HON DKCTEUHLUH B
Bocrounbiii Typkectat 1 COICACTBOBAN MONOMHEHHIO SITOHCKHX
LEHTPAJIbHOAZHATCKUX KOJIEKUMH!. Dta sKkcneauuust Obina
npexnpunsita npu nopiepykke Otann Kopgyu, ABajuarth BTopo-
ro riaebl Hanpasjendst Hucu XoHrauisu, OTHOCSIIErOCs K
wkoste «Yucrol 3eman», W M3HAYAILHO 3aJlyMbiBasach Kak
PENUTHO3HAS MHCCHS € LEMbIO U3ydeHusl NaMATHHKOB Oyiuii-
ckoil kyssrypsl B Bocrounom Typkecrane. Bo Bpems nyretie-
craust Xo66¢ 3apasuics ocriot 1 ymep B Kyue B Bospacre JIeBsiT-
HaJIUATH JIeT.

B uawei# cratbe Mbl paccMoOTpuM pojb Xo66ca B 3TOk
SKCIEJULIMH H NOTbITAEMCS BRISICHUTD, Todemy OTaHu HaHsi
9TOTO MOJIOJIONO AHTIMYAHUHA, He MMEBLIEro HH OfbiTa, HU
JOCTATOYHON KBANM(DUKALMH, JJISl YUACTHSI B CTOJIb ONACHOM
TIyTeLLeCTBHH.

CriejtyeT yToulnTh, 4T0 B HACTOSALLEE BPeMsi ITOT MATepyan, 1apsy ¢
ocTanbHbiMu Koswtekwsivi Oratin, pacnpesenell, no Kpaknei mepe,
Mexly TpeMs cTpanamu, a umenno: Kuraem (Myseit JTioduyHo,
Hauuonanbhas 6ubnnoreka Kuras), Kopeeit (HauuonanbHoiii myseit
Kopeu) u fAnonnecit (Bubsuorexa ynusepeuteta Piokoky, Haunonanuhbiit
myseit Knoro, Haunonansuniit myseit Tokno, Mysed kanaurpaduu
Hakamypst u . ). Yactb matepuanos ytpayena.
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An English Participant in the Japanese
Exploration of Central Asia.

The Role of A.O. Hobbs

in the Third Otani Expedition

Imre Galambos

he history of the exploration of the Silk Road is pieced
together info a narrative from the stories of great explo-
rers and scholars who acquired magnificent collections,
today housed in leading museums and libraries worldwide.
Many of these explorers, like Sergei Oldenburg, Sven Hedin
and Marc Aurel Stein, were at the center of public attention at
the time and their names are still well known today. However,
we tend to forget that these great personalities never worked
alone but had many, mostly locally hired, assistants who
worked under their supervision, travelling through the same
distances and seeing the same things as their employers.

Among the “supporting actors” who contributed to the
exploration of the Silk Road early in the 20th century,
A.O. Hobbs (1892—1911) stands out as a special case. Albeit
a British citizen, he accompanied Tachibana Zuicho, a Bud-
dhist priest from Japan, on an ambitious expedition to Chinese
Turkestan and thus contributed to further growth of Japanese
collections.! The project was carried out under the auspices of
Otani Kozui, the 22nd Abbot of the Nishi Honganji branch of
the Japanese Pure Land sect, and was intended to be a reli-
gious mission with the objective of exploring the Buddhist sites
of the region. During the journey, Hobbs contracted smallpox
and died in Kucha at the age of nineteen.

In this paper, [ am interested in Hobbs’s role in the expedi-
tion, more specifically, why did Otani employ a young
Englishman with no qualifications or experience for a danger-
ous exploration.

Hobbs’s participation in the expeditions came completely
unexpectedly; he was hired through a newspaper advertisement
and shortly after that sent along with Tachibana to Central Asia.
He spoke neither Russian, nor Chinese or any of the Turkic dia-
lects, he had not been recommended by anyone. In short, he
was completely unfit and unprepared for the task. On the other

To be exact, this material, along with the rest ol the Otani collection, is
now scattered between at least three countries, namely, China (Liishun
Museum, National Library of China), Korea (Korean National Museum)
and Japan (Ryukoku University Library, Kyoto National Museum, Tokyo
National Museum, Nakamura Museum of Calligraphy, elc.). Some of the
material is missing.



A.O. Xo66c¢ rionaj B 9KCHEARLUAIO COBEPUICHHO CAYYaIO.
Ero Hans/in 0o 0OBABIEHHUIO B ra3eTe H BCKOPE HANPABUIH BMe-
cre ¢ Tatubanoit B Llenrpasnbhyio Asnto. On 1e ropopujt Hu no-
PYCCKH, HH N0-KATARCKH, HY HAa KAKOM M3 TIOPKCKHX JIMANeKTOB,
He WMeJI HUKAKHX pekomeHpauui. On aBcomoTHO He COOTReT-
CTBOBAJI TPEOOBAHHUSM, MPEABABASICMbIM K HIPEACTOsIEH pa6o-
Te, U He Obut noaroTosset K Hell. CJleayeT OTMETHTDH, YTO B TO
Ke Bpemst B JIOHAOHE HAXOMMIIOCH HECKOJILKO ToCaeIoBaTeNei
Orann, ¥ o060 U3 HUX JyuLLe NOAXO/HI ISt TAKOTO MyTele-
CTBHS.

Mbei nonaraem, uro Xo06c ObWl HAHST M3 MOJMTHYECKHX
COOOPAKEHUH, B YACTHOCTH, H3-33 PACTYLIMX NOJ03PEHUHA GpH-
TAHCKUX BJACTER OTHOCHTEJBHO HCTHHHBIX MOTHBOB SIOHCKHX
uceaeposaresedi Ha tepputopur Cunbugsina. B pesysibraTe
Gaectsiuieit noGeapt B pyceko-anoHckoit Boine 1904— 1905 rr.,
SInonust NpeBpaTHAAch B CHILHYIO A3HATCKYIO AepXKaBy, W Kak
pycckne, Tak M ODHTAHCKHE BJACTH BECbMa [OAO3PHTENBHO
OTHOCHJ/IHCh K SITOHCKHAM TOMJAHHBIM, TyTEIHeCTBOBABIIMM 10
MOJNTHYECKH YyBCTBHUTE/ILHBIM pernoHaM. Bo Bpemst akcneu-
upy 1908—1909 rr. TaruGana u Homypa Dinzabypo naxonu-
JICh [IOJ [IPUCTA/IbHBIM BHUMaHHEM OPHTAHCKHX Da3BeblBa-
TeNbHBIX CIYAO, Bbi3blBasi Yy HUX OOJblide ONO3PeHUsI.
ITosromy, korma Homypa nonwitancs sepuytbest B CHHbLBSIH
uepes Munuio v nepecedn GpurTaHcKyto rpanuity, Baacti M
1e Bblianu emy paspetierus. bes comnenus, OTanu 11pekpacHo
1IOHHUMaJt NPUUKHBL 0TKa3a. CTPEMSICh NPO0MIKATL UCCIIEHOBA-
Hue 3anaanoro Kurast, oH 10JiKeH Obist CAEIATh CBOE TPEATPHSI -
THE MeHee [OJ03PUTENbHBIM B IM1a3aX OPUTAHCKHX BJACTel.
B pesyabrate, BMeCTo TOro utoGbl MOCHAATH IKCMEAULMIO B
cocraBe Tpex OyIMACKHX HACTABHUKOB, KaK 3TO MJAHUPOBA-
J10Ch H3HAYAJILHO, OH NIPeANOoYes OCAATh JINLLIb OJHOTO MOJIGAO-
ro moHaxa, TarubaHy, B cOMpoBOXIeHHH eile Gosiee IOHOTO
anrnvuanuna. Llennocrs Xo66ca sakiiouanach He B €ro KBaJiu-
(uKaluH, a B TOM, 4TO OH OblJI aHIJIMYAHHHOM; €T0 POJib CBOM-
Jlach K TOMY, 4TOOb! SKCIIEMIIMS CTaNa HHTEPHAIIHOHALHON H,
C/Ie[I0BATEJbHO, BLINIAAEA KAK MOXKHO MEHEEe <SITOHCKOM».

JKusnb A.O. Xo66ca — cruiouinas sarapka.  Jlaxe ero
TIOJIHOE MMsI OCTAETCS! I HAC Heu3BecTHbIM. OH He MOJyUHJ
HHKAKOIO CheuabHOro o0pa3oBaHusl U oKasascsl BOBJeYeH-
HbIM B PHCKOBAHHYIO JesITeJIbHOCTh, CBSI3aHHYIO C HCCJe]0Ba-
TeJbCKUMH SKCIICIHULHUIMHE, OTKIUKHYBILKCH HA OODBSBICHHE O
pabote B OHOH M3 JIOHAOHCKHMX raseT. DBbuio Gbl 3aMaHuMBO
BLISICHHTD, KakHe TpeOoBaHHs MPEALABJSINCL K TeM, KOO
HAHMMaJIK 151 TYTeLIeCTBHs1 B OMH U3 CAMBIX YANEHHBIX YToJ-
KOB MHDa% YIHUBHTEJLHO, 4TO HCIOJHHTEJS CTOMb ONACHOTO
3alaHNs NOABICKMBAIM TakuM 00pa3oM, He TpeOyst HHUKaKHMX
pekomeHpauui. Tem ne menee, Otann nausin Xo66ca B Kave-
ctBe nomottuka TatuGaubl Y NPeACTOAINEH IKCTIEIUINH,
KOTOpAsi BOLLIA B HCTOPHIO KaK TpeThst akcnenuumst Otanu.

2 K coxanennio, 1am ne YAAJ0Ch pa3biCKaTh 3T0 o0bsiBaeHHe.
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Tamu6ana J3yiimé

Tachibana Zuicho

hand at the time of their departure several of Otani’s followers
were also in London and any of them would have been a better
choice for such a journey.

My contention is that Hobbs was hired for.political reasons
specifically in response to the British authorities’” growing sus-
picion regarding the true motives of Japanese explorers in
Xinjiang. Following its glamorous victory in the Russo-
Japanese War of 1904—05, Japan emerged as a major power in
Asia and both Russian and British authorities were exceedingly
cautious with regard to Japanese nationals travelling in politi-
cally sensitive regions. During their 190809 trip Tachibana
and Nomura Eizaburo were observed by the British intefligence
network with increasing suspicion and when Nomura decided
to re-enter Xinjiang via India and attempted to cross its frontier,
the British India’s Government rejected his application.
No doubt, the reasons behind the rejection were eventually
known to Otani and if he wanted to continue with his plans of
exploring Western China, he had to face the problem and come
up with a way of making his enterprise less suspicious in the
eyes of the British authorities. Therefore, instead of sending a
team of three Buddhist priests, as originally planned, he opted
for sending only the very young Tachibana, accompanied by an
even younger Englishman. Hobbs’s qualifications seem to have



Cresa nanpaso cudam: Kyosé (Omanu) Taxaxo, Ceen Tedun, Omanu Kadsyxo, Omanu Kodsyu, Omanu Kunyxo.
Tpemuii caeea 60 smopom pady —~ Homypa 21id3aGypo

Sitting from left to right: Kujo'(Otani) Takeko, Sven Hedin, Otani Kazuko, Otani Kozui, Otani Kinuko,f;
Standing the 3rd from left - Nomura Eizaburo

B cBoeit neppoit sxcneauiyn 1902— 1904 rr. Otanu yua-
CTBOBAJI JIMYHO B COTPOBONIEHNH HEOOMBILON rPYIITbl IPefan-
HbIx ocsiepoBatededt. Jlpa roga Oranu niposed B Jlonjone, uay-
uast 3anamuble pesurud. OH  riaybGoOKO 3aHHTEPECOBAJICS
Pe3yNBTATAMH APXEOJOTHUECKHX OTKPBITHI, CARNAHHBIX €BpPO-
nefickumn necsiegoatensivy B Llentpanbioit Asun. On JuHO
BCTPEUAJICS! C HEKOTOPBIMI M3 CaMblX BBIIEIOUUXCS HCCACN0BA-
Tesiell TOro BpeMeHH, B NepByto odepe/b ¢ Aypesiom CreiiHom 1
Cienom leaunom. MIX focTiokeHHs IPOM3BEN HA HEro CToJlb
GoJbllIoe BlleYaTeHHe, UTO HAaKaHyHe BO3BPALICHUsl JOMOH B
1902 1. oH peL NPeANPUHATS NyTetecTsue yepes Lenrpaio-
Hy10 A3110, 4TOObI HCCIIEIOBATD OYLIHHACKHE IPEBHOCTH B Gac-
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consisted simply of being English, and his role was to interna-
tionalize the enterprise and thus make it as non-Japanese as
possible.

The life of A.O. Hobbs is almost a complete mystery. Even
his full name remains unknown to us. He had no academic
background and was drawn into the thrilling business of explo-
ration by responding to a classified advertisement in a London
newspaper. It would be fascinating to see what sorts of require-
ments or qualifications were expected of someone to travel to
one of the remotest parts of the world.? It is also surprising that

2

Unifortunately 1 have not been able to track down the original advertisement.



ceitne pexn Tapum. Dyjydu He TOMbKO NPAKTHKYIOLHUM GyIM-
CTOM, HO TaKKe U yueHnM-Oymtonorom, OTaHu uyBCTBOBaJ
ceBst BO MHOTHX BOTIpOCax GoJiee KOMIETEHTHbIM, YeM eBPOneii -
Lbl, KOTOPbIE B OCHOBHOM MHTEPECOBAJIUCE reorpadueit u npuo-
Gpertennem npeaMeToB ApeBHOCTH. Ero sinunoe yuacrtie B 3T0M
1yTeIecTBUH ObII0 BCKOPE TNPEPBAHO H3BECTHEM O CMepTH
orua. Orann HemenienHo BepHyicst B Kuoto, octaBus coux
nocsieioBaresiell sagepuiate paboTy. 3aHsiB MECTO CBOETO OTUa
KaK iaBbl LUKOJbL, OH OPraHu30Bas ¥ (PHHAHCHPOBAJ €lIe ABe
IKCIENULMH B STOT PErHOH, XOTS HE CMOT JIMYHO TIPHHSITH B HHX
yyacThe.

Bropas skcnenuumst cocrostiace B 1908—1909 rr. u ece
uneHamu ObLIN TOJMBKO JIBa 4YesioBeka U3 xpama Hucu Xowran-
A34. IT0 ObIIH JEBATHAATHICTHHI OYANHACKUA HACTABHUK
TatuGana Jlgyiré (rnasa skenepuwn) 1 Homypa Ditnza6ypo,
KOTOPbIH OblJl HE HAMHOrO CTaplie CBOCrO HauaJbHUKA. ITO
Oblio nepsoe nyrewectsue TatOanbl, W OHO CACNANO €rO
usBeCTHbIM. OH OBHAPYIKHJ PAJL BAXKHBIX PYKONKUCEH, CPEAH
KOTOPbIX Gbifio MUcbMO 13 Jloynanu, oTHOCsWieecsi K Hayasy
IV 8., nanucanroe JIn Bo, rnasubiM npasutenem 3anagHbix
paitonos. Ilocsie okoHuaHust paGoThi 3TH [Ba UCCaeIOBATES
nepecexan Kapakopym, uroGbi nionacts B VIHAMIO W TIpRCOeIy-
HUTHCs K OTanu, KoTopbiil npubbin 8 Mo ug nonuu. [ocne
Toro Kak TatubGama riposesi HECKOJIbKO Helesb B KanbkyTre,
paboTast Haj CROMMH MyTEBLIMH 3aMETKAMH M U3ydasi YiHrypekue
pykonucu Bmecte ¢ Heuunconom Poccom, riasoi Kanbkyrreko-
ro yHuBepcurera, on otobil B Espony smecre ¢ Oranu. B cuty
Bxoauu Takxke xeHa Oranu Kanayko, ero cecrpa Taksko u ne-
CKOJIbKO TIocqiefioBaTeniel, BkJjtouasi Aok Bywké, BatanaG3
Tscenn v Xacupamoro [3yiicion. TaruGana nposes B Jlonjone
HECKOJIbKO MecsiLes, npexae ueM B aBrycre 1910 r. otnpasus-
cst B CHHBL3STH BMECTE C HEIABHO HAHSITHIM X066COM.

Ho xTo 6ol 10T 3arafouHstit aHrIMUaHKH, KOTOPLIA IyTe-
wectsoBan no Typkecraty 1 3aHUMa/Cs PACKOMKAMH BMECTE
¢ TaruGanoii? ITurep Xonkupk, aBTOp NOMNYJNAPHON KHHTH
«3amopckue ueptu Ha [lleskoBom nyTy», SIBHO XKesas npeacTa-
BUTh SINOHCKWX HCCNIEAOBATEN el WITHOHaMH, coOpaj Bee, YTo
CMOT OOHAPYKHTb O HEM CPe TOJIMTHYECKHX M CEKPETHDIX
JokymentoB Oubauorekn Ilenapramenta no jaesam Muauu,
KOTOpbI€ COAePIKaNn oT4eThl M AHeBHUKH Jkoppxka Makapriy,
reHepaibHOro Koucysia BesukoGpuranuu B Kauirape®.

Xonkupk nuwet: « Tpunaauaroro siusapst 1911 n. Makaptiu
noJy4us ABe resierpamMmmbl U3 ropoaa Kyuu, 4ro naxopurest npu-
GJIM3UTEJILHO B YETBIPEXCTAX MHJISIX K BocTOKY. OfiHa, Ha KuTaii-
CKOM fI3blKe, Obl/1a OT ero akcaKasa, KOTOpbiil HHOPMHPOBAJ 0
TOM, 4TO aHrauickuil nyremecrseHHuk A.O. Xo66¢ 3a6oden
ocrnoit. Bropasi — oruasinuas Mosib6a 0 nomous — Gblia 0T
camoro Xo66ca, KOTOPbI, Kazanoch, He MOJ03pEeBa 0 TOM, 4TO
3a0osien ocnodt. B TejierpaMme OH MPauHO ONMUCHIBAJ CUMITOMbI

3 MaKapTHH Oblat O(bMLLHaJIb!IO Ha3HAUCH TeHepasibUbiM KOHCYJIOM KaK pas B

TO Bpems, Korja B Katurape cocrosuines noxoposst Xo66c¢a.
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such a person was to be sought in this manner rather than
,through a recommendation. Nevertheless, Hobbs was hired by
Otani as an assistant to Tachibana on his upcoming expedition
which came to be known as the Third Otani expedition.

The first expedition of 190204 was carried out by Otani
himself, accompanied by a handful of his devoted followers.
During the two years Otani spent in London learning about
Western religions, he became deeply interested in the results of
the archacological discoveries of European explorers of Central
Asia. He personally met some of the biggest names of the time,
most notably Aurel Stein and Sven Hedin, and was so inspired
by their accomplishments that when he was about to return
home in 1902, he decided to take the overland route through
Central Asia and explore the Buddhist ruins of the Tarim Basin.
As a practicing devotee and a trained scholar of Buddhism, he
felt that in many ways he would be more competent in doing so
than Westerners whose main concerns were geography and the
acquisition of antiques. His own participation in this trip was
cut short by the death of his father, following which he imme-
diately refurned to Kyoto, leaving his followers behind to conti-
nue their work without him. Once he succeeded his father as
the head of his sect, he organized and financed two more expe-
ditions into the same region, although did not participate in
them personally.

The second expedition was carried out in 1908—09 by only
two men from the Nishi Honganji Temple, the nineteen-year old
Buddhist priest Tachibana Zuicho as the leader and the slightly
older Nomura Eizaburo. This was Tachibana’s first trip, which
brought him fame. He discovered a number of important manu-
scripts, among them an early 4th-century letfer from Loulan,
written by Li Bo, the Chief Aide Administrator of the Western
Regions. Upon completion of work the two explorers crossed the
Karakorum pass into India to join Otani, who had arrived in India
from Japan. After spending several weeks in Calcutta, working on
his travel notes and studying Uighur manuscripts with Denison
Ross, the Principal of the Calcutta Madrassa, Tachibana accom-
panied Otani to Europe. Along went also Otani’s wife Kazuko,
sister Takeko and several followers, including Aoki Bunkyo,
Watanabe Tesshin and Hashiramoto Zuishun. Tachibana spent
several months in London, before leaving for Xinjiang with the
newly hired Hobbs in August of 1910.

But who was this mysterious Englishman who travelled and
excavated with Tachibana in Turkestan? Peter Hopkirk, in his
popular book Foreign Devils on the Silk Road, with a decided
preference to portray the Japanese explorers as spies, summar-
ized what he could find about him in the Political and Secret
Files of the India Office Library, which contained the reports
and diaries of George Macartney, the British Consul-General at
Kashgar.® Hopkirk reports: “On January 13, 1911, Macartney

3 Macartney was promoted to the rank of Consul-General just about

the time of Hobbs was buried in Kashgar.



GoJiesun: «§l crpaparo 0T 60JIe31H KOXKH, KOTOpasi [opasuiia Bee
OpraHbl, s MOTY OTKPLITD V1238 TOILKO HA HECKOBKO MHHYT... A1
YyBCTBYIO CeOsi Tak BOT YXKe B TeueHHe JeCATH JHel, W s He
Bcral ¢ nocrenn». Hu arta Tesnerpamma, HH Tejerpamma ot
akcakasia He japana MakapTHu, KOTOpbIfi BeCbMa TOPAHJCH
TeM, YTO 3HAET O NEPEIBIKEHHAX BCeX ¥ Kaxoro s Kuraiickom
Typkecrane, HUIKAKHX CBeIEHH O TOM, KeM OblJI 9TOT YesIoBeK H
YeM OH 3aHMMAJCs OfUH B CTOb oTaaieHxoM mecte. [Tocne
Toro, kak Makaprthu ornipasui s Kyuy csoero Bpada-umjyca, on
coob1ua Xo66cy, 4To noMolilb HaxoauTest B nyTd. Ho wectna-
1aTOTO SAHBAPST OH MOJY4HJ OT JuHeyans (KATalCKOro CaHOB-
Hika) u3 Kyun tesierpammy, B KOTOPO# rOBOPHUJIOCD, HTO HaKa-
HyHe Beuepom Xo66¢ cKoHuancsi»4,

B zaxmouenye XOnKupK onuchiBaet, kak Maxaptau opra-
HU30Basl focTaBky Tesa Xob6ca B Kauirap, Koropast sasiia
oKoJlo Tpex MmecsiueB. TaruGana, yshap, Kakasi Tparuieckas
cyab0a nocturiia ero cnyTHika B Kyue, HeMeAJIRHHO OTHPABHII-
cs1 B Kawwrap u easa yenen Ha noxoponbsl. Pacckas Xonkupka
MOALITOKMBALT BCE TO, UTO ObUIO H3BecTHO MakapTuu n Gpu-
TaHcKuM BaacTaM o Xo66ce. OraesbHble GakThl i PA3PO3HEH-
nas undopMaiysi, oOHapy*KeHHAs B OCHOBHOM B SITOHCKHX
MCTOUHHUKAX, TIPOJIMBAIOT OOJIBLUME CBET Ha HCTOPUIO €T0 XKH3HH.

FEcTecTBEHHO, IJiaBHLIM HCTOUHMKOM CBeACHME Obll cam
Taru6ana, KOTOPhIA PACCKA3BIBAJ 00 KCICAHLIMN 1 NYOIHKOBA
ot4eTsl 0 Hel. M3 3THX OTUETOB Mbl MOXKEM BOCCTAHOBUTDL
MOAPOOHOCTH FKCTIEAULIMH, CBsI3AHHbIE ¢ X0OGCOM. JLnist ymeHb-
[IIeHHsl TPAHCTIOPTHLIX PacxofoB skcrnepuuun Tatubauna pentus
oTnpaBuTh chapsikeHne mopem K3 Jlonpona B Cankr-Ilerep-
Gypr M NOpydusi cBOeMy HOBOMY PabOOTHHKY COMNPOBOXAATH
Baraxk. Xo66C OTIIBUL ABYMS JHSME ‘paHbiile, 4T0ObI Npociie-
JUTB 33 Gara)xoM, COCTOSIBILIMM U3 ABA/ILIATH MECT H COlepKaB-
1IMM MHOKECTBO HayuHbIX MPUCNOCcOCICHUI 1 APYTOe IKCTIenH -
unoHHOe umywectso. Tarubana ornpasuics w3 Jloupona
16 aBrycra 1910 r., 3aexan cHavana B Bepsiu, a 3aTem npuobLn
B Canxr-TTetepGyprs. B TeueHre Hefle/iv CO BCE YCHIIMBABLLNM -
C5T BOJTHEHHMEM OH OXKUJIAJ1 CBOETO MOMOIIIHHKA € 0araXKom.

Pycckasi tamoxeHnHast cay:k6a oOpaTw/ia’ BHHMaHue Ha
Oarax skcnejuuy, M Tatnbana BoIHYKIEH bl OOPATHTLCH B
[ToconbetBo SInOHHKM 332 MOMOLbIO. B KOHIE KOHUOB Kaxpoe
MecTo Garaxa 6bl10 TLATEIbHO B3BEIEHO i oneyatano pabot-
HUKAMH TaMOXKHM C YCJIOBMEM, 4TO Garaxk He MOMKeT ObiTb
BCKPLIT HA TeppuTopun Poccuu, U uTo OH JI0/DKeH ObiTh BbIBE3EH

4 Hopkirk P. Foreign Devils on the Silk Road: The Search for the Lost
Treasures of Central Asia, Oxford, 2001, pp. 203—204.

B Bepanue on nocetin AnsGepra ¢on Jlekoka. B nuceme ot 23 asrycra
1910 r. [lenncony Poccy B Kanukytry Jlekok naituca o suaute TatuGaiibt
¥ 0 CBOEM YAHB/ICHUH N0 NOBOJY ero HeGoabworo pocta (Ross, D. Both
Ends of the Candle: The Autobiography of Sir E. Denison Ross, London,
1943, p. 107).
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received two telegrams from Kucha, some four hundred miles to
the east. One, in Chinese, was from the British aksakal there
informing him that a British traveller, a Mr A.O. Hobbs, had
been struck down by smallpox. The second, a desperate please
for help, was from Hobbs himself who appears to have been
unaware that it was smallpox that he was suffering from. In his
telegram he grimly spelled out the symptoms. ‘I am suflering
from skin disease which has affected all organs. I can only keep
my eyes open for a few minutes at a time... For ten days I have
been like this and I have not left my bed.” Neither this telegram
nor the aksakal’s offered Macartney (who prided himself on
knowing everybody’s movements in Chinese Turkestan) a clue
as to who this man was or what he was doing all by himself in
this remote spot. After dispatching his Indian medical assistant
to Kucha, Macartney signaled to Hobbs to say that help was on
its way. But on January 16 he received a telegram from the
Ting-kuan (senior Chinese official) of Kucha informing him
that Hobbs had died the previous evening.”

Hopkirk concluded the story describing how Macartney
made arrangements for moving Hobbs’s body to Kashgar. The
transfer of the body took almost three months and Tachibana,
having discovered his companion’s ill fate in Kucha, raced to
Kashgar just in time for the burial. Hopkirk’s narrative sums up
what was known to Macartney and the British authorities of
Hobbs. Bits and pieces of information found in mainly Japanese
sources provide some additional insight into his life.

Naturally, the main source is Tachibana himself, who has
talked and published about the expedition. From his accounts
we can reconstruct the general details of the expedition with
regards to Hobbs. In order to reduce the transportation fees of
the expedition, Tachibana decided to ship their gear from
London to St. Petersburg by sea and instructed his newly hired
employee to accompany the luggage. Thus Hobbs left by boat
two days ahead, overseeing their twenty pieces of heavy lug-
gage which contained a host of scientific instruments and other
expedition gear. Tachibana left London on 16 August 1910,
going first to Berlin and then to St. Petersburg.® Arriving there
first, he waited amidst growing anxiety for anothér week until
Hobbs and the luggage arrived.

4 Hopkirk, P. Foreign Devils on the Silk Road: The Search for the Lost
Treasures of Central Asia, Oxford, 2001, pp. 203—204.

At Berlin, he visited Albert von Le Cog. Le Coq wrote about Tachibana’s
visit and his surprise at the latter’s small stature in a letter (dated August
23, 1910) to Denison Ross in Calcutta. (Ross, D. Both Ends of the
Candle: The Autobiography of Sir E. Denison Ross, London, 1943,

p. 107.)



U3 CTpaubl B TedeHue wectu mecsien. Haxomsice B Caukr-Ile-
TepOypre, Tarubana Takke PeLLH HAHATH PYCCKOTO MOJIOAOTO
yesioBeka B KadecTBe nepepojuuka. C noMoliplo Biaajesbua
SNOHCKOro MarasuHa «Tokuo», pacnoyoxersoro Ha Hepckom
npocrexre, oM 57, OH Halle] PYCCKOro CeMHAAUATHJIETHErO
IOHOWIY 3a exemecsuloe xajopaHue okoao 170 nen u onnaty
BCEX JIOPOXKHbIX H3AEPIKEK.

Jast Toro utoBbl NOCMOTPETL CTPAHY M CIKOHOMUTDL JCHbIH,
Tatu6ana peiuns BOCNO/NL30BATHCST OOLIUHBIM HKeJe3HOA0POXK-
HBIM BaroHOM, a He MeXIyHapoaHbiM skcrpeccom. OH nucan,
YTO 3TO MyTELIeCTBUE CEMHALATHICTHETO PYCCKOrO IOHOLUH,
BOCEMHAALATUIETHErO TOMOIIHHKA-aHIIMUAHHHA W HX JABaJIA-
THAETHETO SINOHCKOIO XO3fIMHA CO CTOPOHbI BBLITJISIEN0 Kak
noe3aKa Tpex WKoaapos. Jioau yauBAsAUCH, Y3HAB, YTO OHH
COGMpAIOTCst B 9Keneauuuio B nycThiin Lentpanbroit Asuu.
Cam Tarnbana Gbin HeGosbiioro pocra (157 cM) u ouenb
XY/IbIM, OH BBITJISIIEN 3HAUUTENBHO MOJIOKe cBoux Jiet®. Ox ona-
caJjcst, 4To ecsikt Obl OH HaHsL1 B3POCOro NepeBoiuHKa, T0 TOT,
BeposATHO, He CTajl Obl MOAYMHSATLECH €My, d CTaf Obl KPHTHKO-
BaTh €0 MJIM JIaBaTh COBETBI, YTO MPUBENO Obl K HApyLIEHHIO
LOJRKHBIX OTHOWIHUI MEXKLy PaGOTHUKOM W HaHuUMATeJeMm.
OnHako OH CJIMIIKOM [I03QHO [MOHSJ, HUTO UX «[EPEBOAYHK»
FOBOPUT TOJILKO [10-PYCCKH 1 HE MOXeT 0611athes iy ¢ Taruba-
HOM, HU ¢ XoOOCOM, KOTOpbIE 10-PYCCKH HE 3HAJIM HU CJIOBA.
B peaysbrare, nocsie HECKOMbKHX HEY/IAUHbIX NOMBITOK HCMOJb-
30BaTh NEPEBOAUHKA BO Bpemst nyTH, Tatnbana B CemunanaTii-
cKe yBosua foHouty. ITocsie 3TOro oH NONbITascs HAHTH PYCCKO-
ro nepeBoAdUKa, KOTOPLIM roBOpua Obl M0-KHUTAHCKH M
110-aHIVIMACKY, HO 1oc/e OeCroie3HbiX NOHCKOB €My MPHIILIOCH
BOCMOJIL30BATBCA YCAYraMH «MOTPENAHHOTO BHAA KHPrU3a»,
KOTOPBIA HEMHOTO 3HaJl KHTARCKHI A3bIK —3T0 ObWIO JydLiee,
YTO OH CMOT CleNIaTh.

He cToHT M yrioMUHATD, YTO STOT KUPIU3 HE FOBOPUJI HH N0~
AHMIMHACKH, HH T10-STIOHCKHM, B TakUM 00pa3oM €ro poJib Kak
nepeBojurKa 6blia comunTesibHa. TaTn6aHa Mor HEMHOTO TOBO~
PUTb NO-KHTAUCKH W MO-YHTYPCKH — HA CaMblX pPacnpocTpa-
Hentbix B CHHBLBANE A3bIKAX, TaK YTO BPSILJIM eMy Oblsi HyXeH
PYCCKHil MepeBOfduK. ITOT haKT FOBOPUT O TOM, YTO MOMBITKH
TaruGaHbl HaHATL PYCCKOrO IMEpeBOAUHKA, BO3MOMKHO, Obli
caieicTBHeM HHCTPYKUui OtaHu, KOTOpbIH Hamepesascs Noj-
YEPKHYTh HEsTOHCKME Xapakrep JKCHemuuuH, 4ToObl yMeHD-
[WKTB HejloBepHe GpUTaHCKHX BracTed. VX HOBbIH nepesoaunK-
KMPTU3, OfHAKO, B OO0JIbLIEH CTRIICHH CYUTAJICS MTOUTH MECTHbIM
uresieM B CHHbL3SIHE M TAKHM 00Pa30M HE NOAXOAHJ /Il 9TOH
POJTH, TAK UTO O HEM HUIJIE He YIIOMHHAJOCh KaK O YJieHe 3KCIe-

Muorue, snaswue TatnGany, oTMeuanu ero Monioxasbtii Bt Hanpumep,
kanurtay Hlattasopr, Gpuranckuit npeacrasurens 8 Kaurape so spemst
nyrewecrsus TarnGanbt 8 1908-— 1909 rr., Tak onucad nyTeniecTBeHHUKA:
«TacuGana (Sic) BuIrISUT NPUOJIHSHTENHHO Ha NATHAAUATD JIeT»
(Bpuratickas 6ubsmoreka, Gubanoreka JlenapramenTa no jejam Vlem,
L/P&S/10/55/240).
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At this point, Russian customs officials became interested
in the luggage and Tachibana had to furn fo the Japanese
Embassy for assistance. Eventually, each place of luggage was
carefully weighed and sealed by customs officers, with the
understanding that it may not be opened within Russia and that
it must leave the country within six months. While in
St. Pelersburg, Tachibana also decided to hire a young Russian
to act as an interpreter. With the help of the owner of a
Japanese shop called “Tokyo” located at 57 Nevsky Prospect,
he managed to find a seventeen-year old Russian boy for the
monthly salary of about 170 yen and round-trip travel expenses.

In order to see the country and to save money, Tachibana
decided to fravel on local trains, rather than taking the interna-
tional express. He described that travelling on the local train,
the seventeen-year old Russian boy, the eighteen-year old
English assistant, and their twenly-year old Japanese employer
appeared to outside observers as three kids on a school trip.
People were surprised to hear that they were to go on an expe-
dition into the deserts of Central Asia. Tachibana himself was
short (157 cm) and very thin, giving an appearance much youn-
ger than his actual age.® He was concerned that if he had hired
an adult interpreter, the man would probably have not listened
to him properly but would have criticized and {ried to advise
him, thus confusing the roles of employer and employee.
However, he realized too late that their “interpreter” spoke only
Russian and although he understood everything the Russians
said to them, he had no means of communicating with
Tachibana or Hobbs, neither of whom spoke a word of Russian.
Eventually, after several frustrating experiences along the way,
Tachibana dismissed the boy at Semipalatinsk. After this, he
tried to find a Russian interpreter who spoke both Chinese and
English but after frustrating searches the best he could do was
to employ a ‘shabby-looking Kyrghyz' with a limited knowledge
of Chinese.

Needless to say, the Kyrghyz spoke neither English nor
Japanese, thus his role as an interpreter was also questionable.
Tachibana could speak some Chinese and Uighur so he would
not really need a Russian interpreter in Xinjiang where these
were the two major languages. This is one indication that
Tachibana’s efforts to hire a Russian interpreter must have been
based on Otani’s instructions, intending to emphasize the non-
Japanese nature of the expedition in.an attempt to alleviate the
mistrust of the British authorities. Their new Kyrghyz interpre-
ter, however, to a large extent was considered local in Xinjiang
and thus did not seem to have served this role, as he is never

Tachibana’s youthful appearance was often noted by outsiders. For exam-
ple, during Tachibana’s 1908—09 trip, Captain Shuttleworth, the British
representative at Kashgar during Tachibana’s 190809 trip, described
him the following way, “Tashibana (sic) looks about fifleen years old.”
(The British Library, India Office Records, L/P&S/10/55/240).



JMUMK — HK B otueTax camoro Tatu6anbl, HU B JAOHECEHUSIX
OPUTAHCKOI PA3BEJKH.

M3 CemunalaTHHCKa OHH HANPABMAKCH HA KHTAHCKYIO Tep-
putopuio, B Tap6ararail, v yis HUX CHOBA HAYAJIMCh HCILITAHHUS
oxppaem Garaxa, KOTopbiil OHY 3apaHee OTIIPaBHJ/IN C Kapa-
BanoM. Yepes naATHAAUATH JHEH OHU NOJYUHJIM W3BECTHE OT
KMTAUCKHX TaMOXEHHHKOB, UTO HX CHapsiKeHHe NpHObIIO.
Xo66¢ B TOT MOMEHT OblJi BEPXOM; OH Obl/1 TaK 00pajoBaH, 4To
MyCTHJ1 CBOIO JIOLA/b B TAJION, HO TYT XK€ BLIJIETE/ H3 Cej/la, Tak
KAaK HE WMEJ OMbiTa BepxoBoit e3abl. K cuacTsio, on Huuero cebe
He NOBPENJ, XOTst CHIILHO ucnyrascs. HemHoro norogs mect-
HBIH KHTENb NpHBe yOeKaBLLyio IO ab.

Tatnbana u Xo66c, Kak NPaBuio, exaju Brepeiy, Oarax
BE3JH CJENOM Ha JIoWAsX Joad u3 mecTHbiX. OObYHO Onu
JIOGHPAJIMCh JI0 TIOCTOSIONO IBOPA 347104110 10 IIPUOLITHS CONPO-
soxpatoix. Jlonpounen Xo66¢ okasalcs COBEPUICHHO HE MO
FOTOBJEH K TOW IPSI3H, KOTOPYIO OHH BUAEJH B MECTHbIX FOCTH-
nuuax. bes csera, a uHorna naxe u 6e3 UMHOBKH, MPSIMO HA
110J1y, OHH, U3MOXMCIEHHbIE JOPOrOHl, YACTO BhbIHYMKACHBI OblLIH
CHAETL B KOMHATE, OXKU/(ast 6arax, B KOTOPOM HaXOAWJIKCh 11DO-
BU3HA 1 Tocyja. TaTnOaHa nospHee BCHOMUHAN, KaK OIHaX/bl,
KOFJ@ OHM TaK CHJIEJH, Tyro rasas nepen co6oi, Xoboc sapyr
MoBepHy/CsT K HeMy H BOCK/HKHYJ: «Hy 4T0 9T0 3a ycjopus?
Taxoit, BumrMo, Gblia Xu3Hb B ipesroctu!». Ho satem nyTteule-

CTBEHHHKH BHOBb NoANananyd noj o4yapopaHue ﬂepBO&IIaHHOﬁ

KPacoThl OKPy»Kaiotilero ux neisaxa. Oanum U3 nanbosee npu-
SITHBIX MOMEHTOB BO BpeMsl NyTellecTsust Oblia 0CTaHOBKA B
Ypymu, e OHUM N03HAKOMHJIMCh ¢ AatdanuHom [letepconom,
KOTOPOro MeKHHCKOE NPaBHTEIILCTBO HANPABUJIO OPralu3oBarth
CeThb MOYTOBbIX yupexaeHnii, u npenonobusiv xopmkem Xau-
TEPOM, H3BECTHBIM AHIJIMHCKHUM MHCCHOHEPOM.

B Ypymuu oxu Hausid ce6e B MOMOILb MECTHOTO KHPru3a u
HECKOJIbKHX KUTAHIIeB | npoaoskuiu nyTb B Typdan. Tatubana
O4eHb KPaTKo onucas npebuianue sxcrieguuuu B Typdaue. Tem
foJiee yAUBUTEJIeH OTUET, HAMTMCAHHBIH camum X060CoM 1 o1y~
6auKoBanHbil B Anrniny B Bbitycke «Lloyd’s Weekly News» ot
1 siuBapst. B nem Xo66¢ npejicTaBieH, Kak YeJOBEK POIOM M3
Cyunpona (ropon B BesinkoOpuranuu, B rpacetse Yuarinup),
KOTOpbIA 110 npukagy Tatn6Ganbl PyKOBOAMI PACKONKaMH GJin3
Typdana. ExxenenesibHuK LMTHPYET €ro ONMUCAHHE NaMSITHUKA:
«Jlo cepeiuubl CKaJlbl CTEHBL W IOTOJIOK OblIM MOKPHITH BEJIH-
KOJIENHO COXPAHUBIIMMHCST H300paXkeHusiMu Byaapi»7.

3akonuus packonku Bozne Typdana, B Hauane pexabpsi
Tatu6ana peurus cHoea roceTHTb JIoynaus, rae BO BpeMmsi CBoe-
O NMPE/ILIYLIEro NyTelueCTBUst OH 0OGHAPYXKHI UEHHbIE DYKOTH-
cu. O6ecnokoeHHbIl Kak cyab0OH HaXOHMOK, AOOLITHIX TpH

# Uur. no: McKay J., The Origin of the Xosas and Others, Cape Town: J.C.
Juta, 1911, p. 60. $I MHOrOKpaTHO TPOCMOTPE BbILICYTTOMSIHYTHI BbINTYCK
«Lloyd's Weekly News», HO He cMOr OGHAPYXKUTh LIMTHPYEMDI OPHIHHAN.
Tak kak knura MaxKes sonuna 8 1911 ., 211 Cll0Ba ABJSIOTCS CAMbIM
NEPBbIM OTYETOM 08 IKCIEIMLHH.
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mentioned as being part of the expedition in Tachibana’s own
accounts or in British intelligence reports.

From Semipalatinsk, they crossed into Chinese territory to
Tarbagatai and, once again, began their calvary with waiting for
the luggage, which they had sent ahead of themselves by cara-
van. Alfter fifteen days, they received a notice from the Chinese
customs that their gear had arrived. Overjoyed by the news,
Hobbs, who was on horseback at the time, tried to break inlo a
gallop but, having had little equestrian experience, was thrown.
Luckily, he suffered no other harm than a terrible fright, and a
little later a local man brought back the runaway horse.

As a general principle, when on the road, Tachibana and
Hobbs rode ahead of their luggage which was carried on horses
by locals. Thus they usually arrived earlier at their accommoda-
tion. Coming from London, Hobbs was initially unaccustomed
to the filth that awaited them in these inns. Without lights and
sometimes even a carpet, they would often sit in the room fati-
gued and lethargic after a long day, waiting for the luggage
which contained all their provisions and cooking utensils.
Tachibana remembered that at one occasion, as they sat there
gazing ahead absent-mindedly, Hobbs suddenly turned to him
and exclaimed, “What kind of living conditions are these? This
is what prehistoric life must have looked like!” Then again, at
other times both travellers were amazed by the untouched
beauty of the scenery along the way. One of the more pleasant
moments of their journey was their stay in Urumgqi where at a
party they met the Danishman Peterson, sent by the Beijing
government to organize the postal network, and Rev. George
Hunter, the well-known English missionary.

In Urumgi, they hired a local Kyrghyz and-a few Chinese
helpers and moved on to Turfan. Although Tachibana’s descrip-
tion of their stay in Turfan is very brief, surprisingly there is an
account of their activity there by Hobbs himself, in a report that
appeared back in England in the January 1 issue of the Lloyd’s
Weekly News. Here Hobbs is referred to as being from
Swindon, and superintending excavations at the ruins near
Turfan for Tachibana. He is quoted describing the ruins with the
words, “Hall way up the rock the walls and ceilings of the caves
are covered with remarkably preserved paintings of Buddha.™

After having excavated near Turfan, in early December
Tachibana decided to revisit Loulan where he had found impor-
tant manuscripts during his earlier trip. Worried about both the
spoils of the Turfan excavations and Hobbs’s health, he decided
to go alone, taking with him only the equipment necessary for
the excavation in the desert. He sent the rest of the luggage

These words are quoted in: McKay, J. The Origin of the Xosas and
Others. Cape Town: J. C. Juta, 1911, p. 60. [ have looked through and
through the said issue ol Lloyd’s Weekly News but was not able to find
the original source. Still, McKay’s book dates to 1911 therelore this
fragment represents the carliest report on the expedition.




packonikax B Typdaue, tak u 3nopopbeM XoG6ca, oH peiiu
OTMPABUTHCS TYIA OJIMH, B3siB € COOOR TOJIBKO CHAPSIKEHHE,
HEOOXoMMMOe ISt PackoroK B ryctbie. OcTanbHol Garax o
ornpasun ¢ Xo66com fanee Ha 3anaj, B Kydy, e npuxasan
oxupath ero. TatuGana onucas UX paccTaBaHue O4eHb IMOLHO-
HaJIbHO, HC COMHEBAsiCh B TOT MOMEHT, YTO OHH BMASTCA B
nocneauuil pas. [ocsinas Xo66ca »aate ero B GOJbLIOM repo-
je, TaruGana, 1o Bcedt BEPOATHOCTH, MbITAJICA OMPajUTL CBOCTO
IOHOTO KOMAAHbOHA OT TPY/HOCTEH TMyTeeCTBHS 110 MyCThIHE.
B03MOMHO, K 9TOMY BPEMEHH OH yxKe [TOHSI, UTO /15l aHrnya-
HUHA YCJIOBHSL OKA3a/UCh CJIMIIKOM TPYAHBIMM, W OH HE MOT
NyTewecTBOBaTh 1o nycteite. Tatnbana JoJoKeH Obil yTEUINTb
Xo66¢a, nokasas, 4ro He Best LlentpasipHast A3usi vKas 1 4To B
Hel Koe-TJie eCTh O0JbLIKE FOPOJA, MONHLIC XH3IH H COeAUHEH -
uble Xopoiunmu joporamu. Kak ou yrteepxpian, Kysa Obina
MMEHHO OJHHM U3 Takux ueHTpos. ITosromy 2 nexkabps 1910 T.
Xo606¢ co CBOUM GAraXOM B COTPOBOMIEHHH CIYTH W3 MECTHBIX
orrpasudacs B Kyuy®.

B Teuenue nocsenytoumx Tpex mecsiten Tatnbana nepecek
nyctbinio Jlon, nposes packorky B Jloynauu, nocetus Mupan 1
3arem nepecek nycreitio Takna-Makan. TTocne atoro on nocne-
wun B ropon Kyda, Ha MecTo BCTpeuM, HA3HAYEHHOH elie B
nexabpe. Ou npubbin Tya Beuepom 4 mapra u yanad, 4ro Xo66¢
yMep OT OCMbi, K U4TO €ro Teqo no pacnopsbkennio Jhropxa
Makaprhu 6bij10 otnpasneso B Kawrap.

Ocna B Te BpeMEHa He CUUTANIACH HEOOLIUHOH DOME3HbIO st
3anamnoro Kurast. B samerkax Creifina no dusuueckoi antpo-
MIONIOTHH YIIOMHHAETCS], YTO MHOTHE MECTHbIE JKHUTEH nepeHe-
cau 310 3a6onesanue®. Bo spemst nyremecrsust Orauu B 1899 1.
1o Kutao oaun u3 ero CryTHHKOB TOXe CKOHYAJICS OT OCTIbl.

Xo66¢ 3apasuicsi ocno, korga xuan Tatubany, Ho ero
TeJIerpamMmmbl, KOTOpbIe Ok rocbiian B Kawrap Makaprtuu, roso-
DAT O TOM, YTO OH /10 KOHLLA HE 0CO3HABAJI CePhe3HOCTH NOJIOXKe -
HUS, 110J1arasl BCE 9TO BPeMst, YUTO Y HEro Kakoe-To KOXKHOE 3a060-
Jepanue. XOTsi OH yMmep B Cepejune siHBaps, e€ro Teno Oblio
ornpasJieno B Kaiirap ToabKo B KoHue Gpespalis, BCero Jimliib 3a
JBe Hepediv jio npubbitHst Tatubanbl.

B KOHCYJILCKHX 3aMUCsX MaKapmu, XpaHAIHXCA CpQ[LIfI’

MOJIMTHUECKHX 1 CEKPeTHbIX IOKYMEHTOB B Gubiunorexe Henap-
TameHTa no aenam Mumuu, ckazano o6 3ToM Tak: «l mapra.
[Tpowwioi HOUBIO MOJydeHa Tejerpamma OT GPUTAHCKOrO
nocnannvka w3 [lekwna, B KOTOPOH FOBOPHTCSI O CMEpPTH

rocnoauna Xo66ca B Kyue. Ero cusitesibCTBO YKa3biBaeT, 4ToO

KWTalcKoe NMPaBUTEJbCTBO YBEAOMUIIO €70 O TOM, HTO 1‘y6€pHa—
TOP Hosoro foMUHUOHA BbICJAJ UHCTPYKUMH FOPOACKHM BJa-

8 M —E Duoxn Kagayo. 15 G D ¥ IR I8 B TaruGana
Tlayitré cu no Cabaky Manbio ki (3aMucku 0 NyTEIIeCTBHAX B [IyCThIHE
rocrioguna Tarubanst Jzyiiré), Cupyky poso (Hlenkosoiit nyts) 7, 1981,
January, No I, pp. 3—13.

Stein M.A. Serindia: Detailed Report of Explorations in Central Asia and
Westerniost China, Vol. 3. Oxford, 1921, pp. 1362—1365.
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with Hobbs to Kucha lurther west, instructing him to wail
there. Tachibana described their parting in highly emotional
colours; no doubt because by that time he knew that this had
been the last time they saw each other. By sending Hobbs to
wait for him in a larger town, Tachibana was most likely trying
to protect his younger companion from the hardships of the
desert. Perhaps by that time he already realized that the
Englishman was finding the terrain and conditions trying and
would not be able to make the desert trip. Tachibana had had to
console Hobbs by explaining that not all of Central Asia was
like this and that elsewhere there were large towns full of life
and connected by normal roads. Kucha was like this, he explai-
ned. Accordingly, on 2 December 1910, accompanied by a local
servant, Hobbs left with their luggage bound for Kucha.®

During the following three months, Tachibana crossed the
Lop desert, conducted excavations in Loulan, visited Miran and
then crossed the Taklamakan desert. After this, he hurried to
Kucha to make the appointment set back in December. He ar-
rived there on the evening of 4 March and soon found out that
Hobbs had died from smallpox and that his body, due to the
arrangements made by George Macartney, the British Consul
General, was already on its way to Kashgar.

Smallpox was not an unusual disease at the time in Western
China. Stein’s analyses of physical anthropology recorded quite
a few locals who had suffered from it earlier in their lives.® In
fact, on Otani's 1899 journey through China one of his own fol-
lowers died of smallpox.

Hobbs contracted the virus while waiting for Tachibana but
his telegrams sent to Macartney in Kashgar show that he was
completely unaware of the severity of the problem, all the while
thinking that he had some sort of skin disease. Although he died
in mid January, his body was not sent to Kashgar until late
February, missing Tachibana by only a couple of weeks.

Macartney’s consular diary kept among the Political and
Secret Files of the India Office Library records the events from
his point of view: “1st March. Received last night a telegram
from the British Minister, Beijing, re death of Mr. Hobbs at
Kucha. His Excellency said that he had been informed by the
Chinese Government that the Governor of the New Dominion
has instructed the Kucha Magistrate to act in accordance with
my wishes.”1?

Another related document from March 1911 supplies a few
additional details about Macartney’s efforts to provide assist-
ance to Hobbs: “Mr. Macartney reports the death at Kucha,
on the I5th January, of an English traveller named

8 A —ME Enoki Kazuo, AT A LG D I I8 5 RD “Tachibana
Zuiché shi no Sabaku manytki” (Notes on Tachibana Zuichd's travels
in the dcscrl)// Shiruku rodo (Silk Road) 7, 1981, January, No |,

pp. 3—13.

Stein, M.A. Serindia: Delailed Report of Explorations in Central Asia
and Westernmost China. Vol. 3. Oxford, 1921, pp. 1362—1365.



cram Kyun, Kak Hajo HEHCTBOBATL B COOTBETCTBHH C MOHMH
noxenanHusimu» 10,

Ilpyroii pjokyment, gatupyemblit maprom 1911 ., cosepaur
JIOTOMHUTENLHYIO HHDOPMALIMIO 0 IonbiTkax MakapThu oxasarh
nomotiib Xo66¢y: «locnoaun MaxapTHu JOK/Ia/bIBAET O CMEPTH
aurAMACKOTo NyTelecTBeHnuKa no umenn Xo66¢ 15 siupapst B
Kyue. Tloayuns usBect#e O TSIKEJOM COCTOSHHH TOCHOAMHA
Xo66ca, rocriogit MakapTHU BblCias emy B [OMOLLL CBOCO
MeJ(HKA, HO NYyTelIeCTBEHHUK YMep OT OCIibl JI0 TOro, KaK ToT
npuGbLIL Ha MecTo. Tocrionun MakapTiu 0Tjan paciopskenne o
[IOXOPOHAX 1 OXpaHe ero nMytuectsa. Okazanoch, 4T0 roCHoAHH
XoG6¢ Gbii CIYTHHKOM SIOHCKOrO MyTeliecTeertka TatumGa-
Hbt (sic)»!

Bo spems Tpaypa 1o ceoemy apyry Tatudana BHe3anHo oxka-
3a0C51 B KPYroBOPOTE MHOMKECTBA aMHHHCTPATUBHBIX Jies. O
bt BIHYMIEH BECTH NEPEIHCKY C KUTaCKUMU BJIACTSMH, OPH-
TAHCKHM KoHCyJoM B Kawrape u AnOHCKWM TOCOMBLCTBOM B
[Texune. Emy Taroke HeobxouMo Gblo 1103a60THTHES 0 Gara-
e, a TAKKe OT/IaTh PACTIOPSLKEHUS OTHOCHTEBLHO PaGOTHHKOB,
KOTOPBIX OH OCTABHJI B HCOOMBILIOM CECHHH. 3aKOHUHB BCE 9TH
nedia, on nocriein B Kanrrap v mpuObit Tyia CrycTst iBe HeAe-
s, OH HeMenieHHO nocetil MakapTiy 1 NeperoBopuil ¢ HUM
OTHOCHTELHO Opranusauun noxopou'?. IToxopoHsl coctosuneh
21 mapra 1911 r. no o6blual0 AHMMIMKAHCKOR LEPKBH. Cpenut
HPUCYTCTRYIOIMX Obiid MakapThu M pYCCKHI reHepalbHbil
Kkoney Coxos. Ho TaruGana Obli e COBCEM MOC/RL0BATENEH B
onucanusx cobpithii. B cegoem otuere OTaHU OH [IMCaJ, YTO OHH
cocTosi/iuch B 15 uac. 30 MUH., 4TO IPUCYTCTBOBAJIO MHOXKECTBO
Pa3HBIX MOACH'?, B TO BpeMst KaK B CBoell KHure 00 sKCneauimu
OH co00LIAN, UTO MOXOPOHbBI cocToAIMCh B 18 vac. 30 mun.,
YTO KPOME HEro W KOHCYJIOB APHCYTCTBOBANO €L [BA HIH TPH
uHoctpadua.

Hapsiy ¢ 3TM, KpaTkas 3anuch B iHeBHrke Makapruu faet
Tounyio uuopmatuio: «21 mapra. Tocnomn A.O. Xo66¢, rpo6
¢ TesIoM KoToporo Buepa npubbln us Kyun, Obiar ceroas noxo-
potieH Ha KnanOuie BpHTaHCKOTO KOHCYJILCTBA, 3ayNOKOHHAs
MOMITBA 110 0GLIUAI0 AHIVIHKAHCKO! LePKBH Gblla MpouMTaHa
MHOIO M MHCCHOHEPOM TOCHOLMHOM HbICTPOMOM, y MOTHJbE
npHcyTeTBoBaid rocroadt COKOB H €ro CeKkpeTapb, FOCNoAMH
Baswrep, rocnioaun TaTnbaHa 1 HECKOJIBKO LIBEOB> ',

Bputanckoe koncysneTso, Kauirap. 3anuch 3a mapr 1911 r

(L/P&S/7/248/894).

[orpanumsiit xypuan 3a mapt 1911 r. (L/P&S/7/248/730).

TMo crenenunm Makaprun, TatnGana nputnin s Kawrap 19 mapra

u3 «Kyun, no nytu 8 Xoraw» (Bpuranckoe KoucyJiscTso, Kauurap).

BoieprkKa U3 TIOCE/WHUX IOKJIAIOB, TOJyHeHIBIX B TCUEIHE MapTa 1911 r.

(L/P&S/7/248/894).

Auoku Kanzyo, ¥kas. co.

KB A8 TarnGana Hayire, H1 BEIRAR Tida ranxen (Meeneponanun
_ Heurpasibhoit Azuu). Tokuo, 1912.

Bpuranckoe koncyanerso, Kaurrap. [lesnnk sa mapr 191 fr,p.3

(L/P&S/7/248/894).

Mr. A.O. Hobbs. Mr. Macarlney, on receiving news of
Mr. Hobbs’ serious condition, sent his Hospital Assistant to his
assistance, but the traveller died from smallpox, before the arri-
val of the medical officer. Mr. Macartney made arrangements
for the burial of the body, and for the care of the property. It
appears that Mr. Hobbs was a companion to the Japanese trav-
eller, Tashibana (sic).”!!

While mourning his friend, Tachibana suddenly found him-
sell in the midst of a multitude of administrative duties, having
to correspond with the Chinese authorities, the British Consul
in Kashgar, and the Japanese Embassy in Beijing. He also
needed to take care of the luggage, as well as giving instructions
to a party of hired hands he had left behind in a small village.
Having done all this, he rushed to Kashgar for the burial and
arrived there in over two weeks. He immediately visited
Macartney and spoke to him regarding the funeral arrange-
ments.'? The funeral took place on 21 March 1911, according
{o the rites of the Anglican Church. Among those present were
Macartney and the Russian Consul-General Sokov. Tachibana
is not entirely consistent in his accounts regarding the details of
the funeral; in his report to Otani he wrote that it was held at
3:30 pm and there were dozens of other people,’® whereas in his
book published about the expedition he claimed that it was held
at 6:30 pm and apart from him and the consuls there were two
or three other foreigners. '

Macartney’s short diary entry on the subject, on the other
hand, gives a precise description of those present: “21st March.
Mr. A.O. Hobbs, whose coffin arrived yesterday from Kucha,
was buried to-day in the British Consulate Cemetery, the

“Church of England Burial Service having been read by me, and
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Mr. Niustrom, missionary, at the grave side, Mr. Sokov and his
Secretary, Mr. Walther, Mr. Tashibana and several Swedes were
present.”® -

These few people at the time represented practically the
entire European population of Kashgar. The cemetery was out-

“Brilish Consulate, Kashgar, Diary for the month of March 1911,”
L/P&S/7/248/894.

“Trans-Frontier Journal for March 1911, L/P&S/7/248/730.
According to Macariney, Tachibana arrived in Kashgar on 19 March
“from Kucha, en route to Khotan.” (British Consulate, Kashgar. Abstract
of News Reports received during the month of March 1911,
L/P&S/7/248/894.)

Enoki Kazuo. Op. cit.

G E#E Tachibana Zuicho. ¥ HEERAR Chiia tanken (Exploration
of Central Asia). Tokyo, 1912.

“British Consulate, Kashgar, Diary of the month of March 191 [
L/P&S/7/248/894, p. 3.




B T0 BpeMst 3TH HECKOJIBbKO JIHIL COCTABJSIIN [IOUTH BCE eBPO-
nefckoe HaceJienye Kamrapa./Kna;@mue HAXOAMJIOCH 3a ceBep-
HbiMH Bopotamu ropopa. [ocne noxopon TatuGaua nauncaun
sapriaty Xo66cy U OTIIPaBHI €€ BMeCTe C €10 JIMUHBIMK BeLLAMH
«ceMbe B Yasbe». 3areM OH YCTaHOBHJ HAArpotye CTOMMOCThIO
B cTo pycckux py6aei'®. Torna e TatnbGana nosyum tejerpam-
My u3 dronun o Tom, uto ymepia Kauayxo, skena Oranu. [otpa-
CeHHbill noTepelt AByx oueHb Oyuakux niofe, TarnGana sran B
JIENIPECCHIO, TIPOMIUBLLYIOCS HECKOJIBKO MECALIEB.

Kangyko ymepaa 27 susaps 1911 1. B a7o Bpemst Otanu Obi
4pPE3BBIYANNO 3AHAT, TAK KAK [IPUTOTOBJIECHHS K TOPKECTBAM M0
cityuaio 650-i ropositmubl cmepti Cutpana, nepsoro narpuap-
xa KoJibl [13€10 cuHCro, Obliy B camom pasrape. MeponpHsThs
TOJy4KJIK OGILECTBEHHBIA PE3OHAHC W NPOLOJKANHCE HECKOJIb-
KO Hejiesib, B TEUeHHE KOTOPbIX OKOJIO ABYX MUJUIMOHOB €ro
nocieopaTeseit co Bcell SIMOHWK NOCETWIM IJIaBHLIH Xpam
wkoabl B Kuoro. IlpuroroBsienust Havasuch cpasy e rocie
toro, kak Orann u Kanazyko sepuysuice B Slmonunto us Jloxuona,
rfie ¢ HuMu Take 6o 1 TatnGana. Kanayko sabosena 20 axpa-
pst BO BpeMst NPUIOTOBJICHUST K TOPXKECTBAM, a CAYCTst HEJIRJIO
ymepaa; e 6bu1 Beero auiis 31 roal’.

TatuGana 0Kazasicst OIMH Ha OJIMH CO CBOUM IOPEM B yJiaJieH-
HOM MecCTe, 4To, 6e3 COMHEHHS, HAHECO MOJOJAOMY Ye/IOBEKY
CepbesHyo AyieBHyio Tpasmy. Ho ero necyactbst TOMLKO Haun-
nanuck. IlpoGeie Tpu Hegesn B Kawrape, 7 anpenst od oTnpa-
BHJICS T10 10XKHOH iopore B Gaccefine TapuMa ¥ B TeUEHHE JBYX
mecsileB BeJi packonkn Gmaua Xorana. 3atem u3 Kepuu on
nbiTascst yepes xpeGer KyubiyHb npoexars B Tubet, HO B yTH
Bee BepOMIOALI €ro0 KapaBaHa naJjii, HaHsIThie JHoAu pasbexa-
JIACE; JIAXKe CTEKJISTHHBIE HETaTHBbI CleaHHbIX UM (oTorpadmit
oKazaJiMch 3acBedeHbl. Llesiblil MecsL, OH MOTPATHI BNYCTYIO U
BLIHYXKIEH OblI BO3BPALIATHLCS 10 CBOUM e ciefiam B KepHio.
3arem ero orpaGuiu H, B JOBEPIUEHHE BCEX HECHACTHH, Ha
OCTOSIIOM JIBOPE €0 XKECTOKO U36HI KuTael, MecThble BacTH
3AKPBUTY 11434 HA 3TH HHLMAEHTB! K 32sBHIIM, YTO OHM HAXONST-
51 BHE IPEJICJIOB UX I0PUCUKIMA. Be3 coMHenust, taBHo# Npu-
YHHOH ero npoGJeM ¢ KUTANCHMK BJACTIMH OblJIO TO, YTO,
COMIACHO HOTE, HATIPABJIEHHO B AMOHCKOE MOCOMLETBO B [Texn-
ne, Tatubana B TO Bpemsi He BbIMpaBui cebe HaaeKaulum
06pasoM MacropT M, CAEJOBATENBHO, MYTeLIeCTBOBAJ B PErHo-

16 Cgou sieficTBUS OTHOCHTEJILHO 3apruaThl X066ca, €ro JIMIHBIX BelleH

¥ HajrpoGust 6ok onucanb TatuGanoil 8 nuesme Barana6s Taceuny
ot 10 wonsa 1912 r, (Llut. no: @'3(‘ E%}’lﬁ Kansko Tamuo, Eﬁf’ﬁﬁ -
WD 40 Coitnru: Tankou no caitkn (3anamubiil kpait — Bek
sxeneauumit ). Tokuo, 2002, C. 174—175.

MOXHO NPeIIONOKUTE, 4TO ITO GbLI0 TPYAHOE Bpems aia Orany, Tak Kak
mecsitg cnyers B nucsme K Coeny Ieauny o nyrewecrsiu Tatu6aiinl

8 Typdan 1 niycTbinio JIo6 on TaKke cooGILMI 0 CMePTH CBOEH XKelbl

1 0 4YBCTBE [VIyGOKOTO OJIHHOYECTBA, OXBATHBLIEM ero. DTO HChMO

o1 27 despanst 1917 r., Bocnpousseero B nocecnosun Kansko Tamno
K uznannio kuuru TatuGanm 8 1989 r. (}fﬁfﬁﬁ Taru6ana Jl3yiré.

o IR MR Tioa ranken (Mcenenosanus Lientpannuoit Asun). Tokno.
1989. C. 268).

side the northern gates of the city. After the funeral, Tachibana
disbursed Hobbs’s salary and mai}Qd it along with his personal
belongings to ‘his family in Wales.” Then he erected a tomb-
stone at the expense of 100 Russian rubles.’s This was when
Tachibana received a telegram from Japan informing him that
Otani’s wife Kazuko had passed away. Struck by the loss of two
people very close to him, Tachibana sunk into a dark mood
which lasted several months.

Kazuko died on 27 January 1911. This was an extremely
busy time for Otani and his temple because they were amidsl
the preparations for celebrating the 650th anniversary of the
death of Shinran, the founding saint of the Jodo Shinshu sect.
The celebration was a public event that lasted for weeks and
during which an estimated 2 million followers from all over
Japan visited the sect’s main temple in Kyoto. Arrangements
began immediately after Otani and Kazuko arrived back in
Japan from their visit to London, where Tachibana was also with
them. Kazuko fell ill on 20 January during the busy prepara-
tions and died a week later aged only 3117,

Tachibana had to deal with his grief alone in a remote place
and this was undoubtedly a serious trauma for the young man.
His bad luck, however, had only begun. After three weeks in
Kashgar, he lelt on 7 April along the southern route of the Tarim
Basin and spent two months excavating in the vicinity of
Khotan. Then from Keriya he wanted to cross the Kunlun range
to the Tibetan plateau but midway all of the camels in his cara-
van perished, his men deserted him and even the glass nega-
tives of his newly-taken photographs shattered. He wasted an
entire month in vain and had to retrace his tracks back to
Keriya. He was then robbed and, on yet another occasion, seve-
rely beaten by a Chinese guest in his hotel; the Chinese author-
ities turned a blind eye to the incidents and claimed it was out-
side their jurisdiction. Undoubtedly, a major part of the problem
was that by this time Tachibana, according to a complaint sent
to the Japanese embassy in Beijing, would not display his pass-

Tachibana's arrangements with regard to Hobbs’s salary, personal ilems
and grave stone were described by him in a letter to Watanabe Tesshin,
dated 10 July 1912, (Cited in 4 F BEHE Kaneko Tamio, 7638 -
AR DAL Saiiki: Tanken no seiki(Western Regions — a Century
of Exploration), Tokyo, 2002, pp. 174—175).

Admitiedly, this was a difficult time for Otani and a month later, in a letter
which he wrote to Sven Hedin about Tachibana’s trip to Turfan and the
Lop desert, he also brought up his wife’s death and that he was feeling
very lonely. This letter, dated 27 February 1911, is reproduced in Kaneko
Tamio’s postscript to the 1989 edition of Tachibana’s book (i B 8
Tachibana Zuicho. ' FIRM Chiia tanken (Explaration of Central
Asia). Tokyo, 1989, p. 268).




He, K KOTOPOMY [1POSIBJISICS NOBBILLUEHHDI NOJUTUYECKHH HHTE-
pec, 6e3 COOTBETCTRYIOUIETO paspetenus'®. TTocsie seero 31010
Bee cpssu ¢ TarubGaHol 0GopBainCh H, KOTIA OH HE NOSIBUJICH B
aprycte B JlyHbxyaHe, Tie €ro J0JKeH Obll BCTPETHTD Ecukara
Kontrpo, Otanu 06 bsBHI €10 OhHLMANBHDI PO3BICK. Tewm Bpe-
mexem paspasuiach Cuubxaiickas PeBOJIOUMS, M TTOHCKH
MOTPEABILErocst STOHCKOTO MyTeLIeCTBEHHHKA OTOIIH Ha BTO-
poit nJian.

Hakouen, 26 sinsapsi TatuGana joopasncs o Jlynbxyana.
37eCh OH NPHCORMMHUICS K Fcukape, KOTOpbiit TPHOBLL, 4TOGH!
CMeHWTH ero B 3T0i skcreauuui. [1posesst uyTh Dosblue Hele-
Av B Moraoky, rae oHH npuoGpesin PyKonucu y Ban 10aub-ay,
oun ornpasuarck B Typdau ans NanbHeAlInX PacKoToK.
B kouue konios, TarubaHa nepecex cesepylo rpaHuiy Kuras
u HanpaBuics B SINOHKIO 10 TpanccnGupCKoit JKeJIe3Hoi A0po-
re. On Be3 ¢ coGOl PYKOIHUCH, TpHOGpeTeHibie 0G0UMH nyTe-
{IeCTReHHUKAMH, BKJHOUAS U T€, KOTOpble OHHM Kynuin B JlyHb-
xyane. Fcnkasa ocrancs 8 Kurae n npofoJKal HCCCAOBAHNI
elle B TeUeHHE JIBYX JIET, BEPHYBLLUCH B SII1OHUIO B HI0/IE 1914 .

Bo Bpems skcneanunn B Bocrounom Typiecratie, Hepes Fo
nocsie toro, Kaxk yexas Tatnbana, fenkasa npoxojun uepes
Kawrap, rjie nocerus moruiy Xo66ca. B ero jHeBHHKE €CTh
cneyiolas sanues: «8 wioas (1913 1), Cpena. Tenubtit cesep-
ublit Betep, He6o uncroe. [Beran] s 7 uacos 30 munyT ytpa. 72°.
[Npenoanec jge GyTblIKH (GPYKTOBOrO BUHA B MECTHOM AMOIAE,
3aTeM MoceTHd Hauanbuuka yesaa. OH OKasascst 4el0BEKOM 13
[yaHcH H, CJIeIOBATENBLHO, OUeHb GONTIHBLIM. Buisan B Kopee
W XOpOIlO 3HaeT 9Ty crpany. B KOHIE KOHLOB sl H3BUHHICH
W yUIeJl, 110 JOpOre 3arjisiHysl Ha [ouTy W BEpHY.ICs JIOMO# B
14 yacos. B 15 4acos s MOLLeJ OTAATb AaHb YBaXKeHHs OKOM -
HoMy X066cy, MOTHAA KOTOPOrO HAXOAMJIACH 32 CEBEPHBIMA
BopoTami, u choTorpaduposarn ee. OH Gbls1 JHOOUMbIM [TOMOLLL-
koM TaTHGAHb!, 1 KaK XKaib, UTO €r0 KOCTH Oblii riorpeGeHbl
B TaKoM 3aGpoiuentom mecte! HesoBeK HUKOTIA He 3HART, HTO
KeT ero sasrpal»’e.

Ynomsinytasi hororpadusi nosauee Oblia OMyONUKOBAHA
BMECTe ¢ HEBHUKOM LCHKABBI, HO, K COXKasleHuio, H3oopaxe-
{1 HEIOCTATOUHO HETKOe, YTOOB! MOXKHO ObIJIO NPOYHTATE UMS
Ha HeGOJBLIOM KUPTIMIHOM NaMsITHHKE, BO3BEICHHOM Ha/l MOTH-
n0i. Tne ceiluac HAXOAUTCS cama MOTHJA, YCTAHOBHTH HEBO3-
MOYKHO.

BoT 1 BCe, 4TO HAM yianoch y3Hath o Xo60ce. B kpartkux

oTueTax MaxapTHy HeT JaXke HaMeka Ha To, 4TO OH MOT MMETDH
Kakie Gbl TO HH GBUIO TOAO3PEHHS OTHOCHTEJBHO ICSITE/IbHOCTH
anonckoll skenemdiwu B Cnnbizsine. Jlst MakapTtay mapt

D710 OPHUHAILHOE JOHECEHHE IPOLUTHPOBAHO B KHHIE Kawnsko Tamuo
(Kartisko Tamuo. Coituku: Taikon Ho caiixm, Toxuo, 2002. C. 181).
SKano6a Gbiia NoJyueHa ATOHCKUM focaom 26 aBryera u jiocnana janee
cexperioit Teserpamme Komypa [l3iotapo snoHckomy MUHHCTPY HHOCT-
paHHBIX ACJ. .

F B KRR Yoxapa Ecnrapd, ed. HPHHGE Con Colvn ku

(Hopoic 3anuckH 0 3anaiom pae). Tokno, 1937. C. 667.

Ecuxasa Koumupo

Yoshikawa Koichiro
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port and thus was travelling in politically sensitive regions
without a proper permit.!® After this, all communication with
Tachibana was lost and when he did not show up in Dunhuang
by August, where he was to meet Yoshikawa Koichiro, Otani
initialed a search through official channels. Meanwhile the
Chinese revolution broke out and the search for a lost Japanese
traveller was far from being the top priority for the local author-
ities.

Tachibana eventually arrived in Dunhuang by himsell on
96 January. Here he joined with Yoshikawa who had come to
replace him on this expedition. Alter spending a week or so at
the Mogao caves buying manuscripts from Wang Yuan-lu, they
proceeded to Turfan for further excavations. Tachibana even-
tually left China in a northern direction and returned home via
the Trans-Siberian Railway carrying with him the manuscripts
the two of them had acquired so far, including the ones pur-
chased at Dunhuang. Yoshikawa stayed behind and continued
the expedition for another two years, returning to Japan in July
1914.

In the cour‘s,,;cf" of his exploration in Xinjiang, a year after
Tachibana’s departure Yoshikawa passed through Kashgar and
here he also visited Hobbs's grave. His diary includes the follow-
ing entry: “8 July (1913). Wednesday. Warm north wind, clear
sky. [Got up at] 7:30 AM. 72°. Presented two bottles of fruit
wine to the County Yamen, then visited the County Magistrate.

" He is a man from Guangxi and thus a great talker. Used to be
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in Korea and knows that land very well. Finally 1 excused
myself, dfopped by the post office and returned home at 2 PM.

18 This official communication is cited in: Kancko Tamio. Saiiki: Tanken no
seiki, Tokyo, 2002, p. 181. This complaint was received by the Japanese
Ambassador on 26 August and was forwarded in a secret telegram to
Komura Jatard, Japan’s Foreign Minister.



1911 r. Obi OUeHb HANPSLKEHHDIM IEPHOAOM, TaK Kak OH Oblj
HA3HAYEH reHepasibHbIM KOHCYIOM U HaNaXKUBAHHE OTHOLICHUH
C DYCCKHMH H KMTANCKHMH BJIaCTAMH NOFAOTHIIO €0 LEHKOM.
JlefcTRUTENIbHO, OH Y3HaJ 0 NpucyTeTBuy B crpare TaruGansl v
Xof6ca cnycTsi UeThipe Mecsia rnocie MX MOosBIeHHs, KO B
cepepte AHBAPS NOAYHHJ MOJBOY O IIOMOLLM OT 3a60IEBUIEr0
Xo66ca. Ero nosntoe Gespasznuune K MyTeilecTBEHHHKAM Haxo0-
JIUTCST, KOHEUHO, B TOJIHOM KOHTpPACTe ¢ OTYeTaMU KanuTaHa
[lattnBopTa, KOTOPLIH eille ABYMsl FOJlaMU paHblie NOCTOSTHHO
nepxan Tatnbany v Homypy B noJie ceoero 3peusi.

Kanuran arrisopt Obl UCIONHAIOWUM 00S3aHHOCTH
koncyna B Kawrape B 1908—1909 rr.,, xorza Jx. Maxaptiu
HaxomuJics B otnycke B BeankoGpuranuu. B Teuenue sToro spe-
MEHH OH MPUCTANBLHO HAGJI0AA 38 IeATe/IbHOCTBIO TaTHOaHb! U
Homypbl u axe HECKONLKO pa3 BCTPEHA/Cst ¢ HUMH JIMYHO.
HecmoTpst Ha M3HAYAJBLHO BO3HUKLIYIO CUMIATHIO K 3THM MyTe-
IICCTBEHHUKAM, C TeUeHHEM BPEMEHH OH NPHILEN K 3aKJiode-
HHIO, UTO OHH 00a ObliM areHTamH pPasBe/iku, JJIsi KOTOPbIX
apXeOJIOrdsl CJYXKHJIA BCEro Jilib 1PUKpbITHEM. KOHKpeTHbIX
JOKA3aTeIbCTB TAK U HE HALLLJIOCh, HO JIAXKe NOJA03PEHHsl NpUHe-
C/IM 3HauuTesbHbIA yiiep6 skerieauuyu. Tlomumo Bospacra-
IOLETO TPHCTANLHOTO BHUMAHHS K ABYM SINOHCKHM HCC/Ie0Ba-
TENISIM TIABHBLIM YAapoOM ObIJIO TO, YTO TOC/E TOMO KaK OHH
ornpasuinch 8 Miyato, Homype otkasanu B 06patHOM Bbes/ie B
Kutaii yepes Jlex, 1 mo3aTomy oH He CMOT 3a0paTh 4aCTh apxeo-
JIOTHYECKHUX HAXOJI0K, KOTOPbIe OHK ocTasuau B Kamrape.

Ocenbio 1909 r. Tatu6ana u Homypa 3aKoHUH/IK CBOIO SKC-
neauLmIo, npoias uepes nepesas Kapaxopym s Ulpunarap, rie
oun Berperunch ¢ Orann. OHako Korja AnoHCKHH KOHCYJt B
KasbkyTre obparuics oT umenn Homypst 3a paspelienuem ep-
nytbest B Kauurap, emy OTBETW/IH, YTO «TIPaBHTEILCTBO Munun
cozKaseeT, YTO HEe MOMKET AaTh rocroguty Jinzabypo Homype
paspellieHHe BHOBL Tiepecedb IpaHdly BpuTanckoit umnepun
yepes Jlex n Kapaxkopym»?2. XoTs1 0TKa3 W Obl/l BEXKJIMBbIM, HO
on Obl npsMbiv chenctsuenm joHecennit Lartasopra 06 ux
npebbiBannd B Kawrape. JleAcTBUTEILHO, H3 BHYTPEHHEH KOD-
PECIOHACHUMH GPUTAHCKOH CTOPOHBI BUIHO, YTO SIMOHCKHI
NyTelleCTBeHHHK TEHEPb CUMTANCH CHEXKEATEbHBIM FOCTEM .

Oranu, 6e3 COMHEHHsI, 3Ha O MOJI03PEHUAX, OKPYKaBIIKX
ero HCCJIefOBaHKus, W pelius uabexarh ocioxHeHuid. Ero
noesaka B AHMIMIO, TJie OH Y4acTBOBaJ B SIHOHCKO-OPUTAHCKON
BbiCTaBKe, ObLIO OJHUM W3 JICHCTBHE, HANpPaBJCHHLIX HA TO,
4TOGbI MPOJEMOHCTPHPOBATH €r0 JIPYIKECKOE H ABHO HE MOJIHTH-
3upoBaiHoe oTHoluenue K Dputanuun. OrpomHoe 3HaueHue
MMEJIO TIPU3HAHME AKAJEeMUYECKOro CTaTyca ero SKCTeAMuM:
Tatubana u Barana6s 6ouin uabpans! wienamu Koposiesckoro

20 TTucwmo T. Xupate, HCMIONHAIOLIEMY 005I3aHII0CTH [EHEPANLIOTO KOHCYa

Snonnn (Kaabkyrra), ot E.X.C. Knapke, 3amectutenst cekperaps
npasuteascta M B oraene unocrpannix ien (L/P&S/10/55/240,
No 36).
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At 3 PM 1 went to pay respect to the late Hobbs’s grave outside
the northern gates, and took a photograph of it. He was
Tachibana's beloved assistant, what a sharhe that his bones had
to be buried in such a desolate place! A man never knows what
awaits him tomorrow!”!?

This photograph was later published together with
Yoshikawa’s diary bul unfortunately the image is not clear
enough to be able to see the name on the little brick monument
erected over il. The grave itself can no longer be located today.

The above sums up the information 1 have been able to
gather about Hobbs. It is clear that Macartney’s terse reports
on him and Tachibana did not imply that he had any reasons to
be suspicious of their activities in Xinjiang. For Macartney,
March was a busy time because of his promotion to the position
of Consul-General and he was heavily involved in redefining his
relationship with the Russian and Chinese authorities. Indeed,
he only learnt about the presence of Tachibana and Hobbs in
the country some four months after their arrival, when he recei-
ved in mid January a plea for help from the ailing Hobbs. His
genial indifference to them is, of course, in sharp contrast with
the reports filed by Captain Shutlleworth who kept Tachibana
and Nomura under constant surveillance two years earlier.

Captain Shuttleworth served as acting Consul in Kashgar in
1908—09 while George Macartney was on leave in Britain.
During this period he closely followed the activities of
Tachibana and Nomura, several times meeting with them in
person. Despite his initial sympathy with the travellers, with
time he became convinced that the two were intelligence
agents, who only used archaeology as a means of disguise.
Without actual evidence his suspicions could not be substan-
tiated but even as such they were extremely damaging for the
expeditions. Apart from the increased surveillance of the two
Japanese explorers, a concrete drawback was that aiter their
crossing into India, Nomura was denied re-entry into China
through Leh and thus could not access part of the archaeologi-
cal spoils they had left behind in Kashgar.

In the autumn of 1909, Tachibana and Nomura finished
their expedition by crossfﬁg the Karakorum Pass to Srinagar
and meeting there with Otani. However, when the Japanese
Consul at Calcutta applied on Nomura’s behalf for a permit to
return to Kashgar, he was notified that “the Government of
India regret to say that they are unable to grant Mr. Yeizaburo
Nomura permission to recross the British frontier via Leh and
the Karakorum Pass.”? Although this was a politely put verdict,
it was a direct consequence of Shuttleworth’s reports on them
while they were still in Kashgar. In fact, the internal correspon-

19 | KES Uehara Yoshitars, ed. P EAC Shin Sci-iki ki

(New Records on Western Regions), Tokyo, 1937, p. 667.

Letter to T. Hirata, Esq., Acling Consul General for Japan (Calcutta)
from E. H. S. Clarke, Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the

Foreign Department, L/P&S/10/55/240, No 36.
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Teorpacduueckoro obuiecTsa, UTo NOATBEP/MAO HX CTATYC yue-
HbIX B I71a3aX BCEr0 MUpa.

D10 He JaeT OCHOBAHHII npe;mohara’rb, yto Oranu neitasncs
CKpbITh uTO-Jin60 OT Gpurtanckux Bjacreii. Haobopor, on
MBITAJICS TIPOJEMOHCTPHPOBATL KAK MOXKHO LMPE CBOM HCTHH-
Hble Hamepernst. OiHaKo, Kak 1 B Cliyyae ¢ 0TKa3om B npockie
Homypnt BepryThes yepes Kurait, HefloBepre K 4jieHam 3Kcne-
JHLMH CO3JABaJ0 KOHKPETHbIE [PENATCTBHS, KOTOPbhIe Halo0
ObI10 NPEOIONeBaTh B PeanbHON XKHIHMY.

B anpesie 1910 r. «The Geographical Journal» onyGnuko-
Basl KpaTKuil oT4eT 0 HOBOH sKcneuunn Tatubannl «Sfnonckas
sxcnegrumst B Kuraitckuit Typkecran n Mouroanio»?'. Jlio6o-
NLITHA NIEPBAst YACTb CTATLH, e TOBOPUTCS O TPEX YHACTHHKAX
fIPEACTOsILIEH IKCNeAULMH, a uMeHHo o Tatnbane, XacHpamoTo
u Aoxku: «MoJsoioli SNOHCKKHA NyTeLeCTBEHHHK TOCHOAMH
Jayitté TaruGaHa, KOTOPLIH HEAABHO COBEPIUWJ HHTEpPECHOEe
MyTeLIeCTBHE C 2aPXEOJOTHUECKOH LEeJIbIo IO CeBePHbIM paifoHam
Kutaiickoit umriepun, CooOLIHII HAM, YTO OH FOTOB OTIIPABUTHCS
B HOBYIO KCIIEHLIHIO B TOT K€ PErHOH W CHOBA TIOJ STHAOH
npu punancoBoi nopnepxke rpaca Konzyn Orann. Apxeosioru-
HeCKHit MaTepuan npeibityiei sxenemun octanca B Kawra-
pe, TaK KaK HHIMACKOE IPABUTENBCTBO HE JAJ10 WM Pa3petleHus
nepeceus Kapakopym. Tocniopnu XacupamoTo, KOTOpbIi npHCo-
eMHUTCS K IKCMEIMUMH KaK HATYPAUCT, JOJUKEH, CeJoBa-
TebHO, MpubLITh U3 Ilekuna B Kamrap uepes [ya-xya-uss u
Tyusn gjist Toro, 4TOOLI MONYUHTH CAAHHBIH HA XpaHeHHe MaTte-
puas, a Ha o0patHoM NyTH B Xamy BCTPETUTHCA € PYKOBOJUTE -
JIEM SKCIICJIUIMH, KOTOPbIi Hafesics nonacts B Llentpanbhyio
Asuio co croponbt Poccun. B Tyusun n Typdane cucremarnie-
CKHE PACKOIIKH OyyT NMpOU3BoanThest rocriopuHom b. Aok, a
HAuaJLHAK TEeM BpEMEHEM COBEpIIUT nyTeluecrsue B Cauy 110
JIOpore, M3BECTHON KAK IJIABHAS OPOTa BO BPeMena JIMHACTHI
Xaub u Sub (sic)..»

[TpuBeaeHHbIe BbILIE CBEAEHHNS!, BO3MOKHO, ObLIH [10J1y4eHbl
xypHasiom B kouue sHBapst 1910 r., korna Homype yxe oTkasa-
Jn B ero npocsbGe, u Oranu pewnst Bephytbes B Kurail apyrum
nyrem. [lsisi Go/ibIIe#A NPELOCTOPOKHOCTH OH PELINJ HE OTChI-
nath HoMypy, cripaBeyinBo nosiarasi, 4to npoGJeMbl HacTUHo
MPOHCXOAsT u3-3a Hero. OfHAKO MO3AHEE OH JOJKeH Obli
TIOHSITb, YTO HEOBEPHE CO CTOPOHB! BeIMKOOPUTAHHH Bbi3bIBAJI
He CTOJIBbKO JHUHO HoMypa, CKOJIBKO SINOHCKOE NPHCYTCTBHE B
9TOM pervone BooOlie. B Teyenne mecsiueB, NMPOBEACHHLIX B
Jlonnone, BO3MOXKHO, MOC/e TOTO, KAK OH Y3HaJ HEKOTOpbIe
10APOGHOCTH, JIeXKALLUE B OCHOBE X TPYAHOCTEN B OTHOLLEHHAX
C MHAUACKMM NpaBUTeabCTBOM, OTaHH H3MEHWI CBOH NepBoHa-
YanbHBIA [UTaH ¥ PELTHJ CBECTH K MUHHMYMY <SITIOHCKHI Xapak-
TEp NPEMIPUSATHsI», «pPasbaBUB» ee COCTAB AHMIMYAHHHOM H
PYCCKUM.

2t The Geographical Journal. April 1910. Vol. 35, No 4, pp. 448—449.

dence on the British side reveals that the Japanese traveller was
now considered an ‘undesirable visitor.”

Otani was no doubt well aware of the suspicions surround-
ing his explorations and he was determined to avoid further
complications. His trip to England where he participated in the
Japan-British Exhibition was one ol a number ol activities
intended to show a friendly and markedly non-political face
towards Britain. Of major importance was the academic promo-
tion of the expeditions, in the course of which Tachibana and
Watanabe were elected as members of the Royal Geographical
Society, confirming their status as scientific explorers in the
eyes of the world.

This is not to suggest that Otani was trying to cover up or
hide something Irom the British authorities. On the contrary, he
was trying to expose his true motives as much as possible.
However, as the case of Nomura’s application to return to
China shows, the mistrust towards expedition members was
creating concrete obstacles that had to be dealt with on a prac-
tical level.

In April 1910, The Geographical Journal published a short
report of Tachibana’s new expedition under the title “Japanese
Expedition to Chinese Turkestan and Mongolia.”?! The first half
of the report is interesting because it names three participants
for the upcoming expedition, namely Tachibana, Hashiramoto

‘and Aoki: “The young Japanese traveller, Mr. Zuicho
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Tachibana, who lately carried out an interesting journey of
archaeological research through the northern parts of the
Chinese empire, informs us that he is about to start on a new
expedition to the same region, again under the auspices and at
the expense of-Count Kozui Otani. The archaeological spoils of
the former expedition were left at Kashgar, as permission to
cross the Karakorum pass could not be obtained from the
Indian Government. Mr. Hashiramoto, who will join the new
expedition as naturalist, will therefore proceed from Beijing to
Kashgar via Kwa-hua-cheng and Gucheng in order to fetch the
collections, and on his return will be met by the leader (who
hopes to enter Central Asia from the Russian side) at Hami. At
Guchen and Turfan sys‘{ématic excavations will be carried on by
Mr. B. Aoki, the leader meanwhile making a trip to Sachu by
the route used as a highway during the Han and Yan (sic)
dynasties...” '

The above information must have been received by the jour-
nal after the end of January 1910 when Nomura’s application
was already rejected and Otani decided to re-enter China by a
different route. As an added precaution, he chose not to send
Nomura back, obviously thinking that he was part of the pro-
blem. However, he must have realized later on that the British

The Geographical Journal. April 1910. Vol. 35, No 4, pp. 448—449.




Ho cotpynsuuectBo ¢ MHOCTPAHHBIMU HCCACNOBATEISIMU H
YUEHBIMH CO3/1a/10 Obl LeJIbiH PSil HOBBIX MPOGJIEM, H3 KOTOPBIX
He rocaeadedt Obljla HexBaTKa BpeMCHVi JUIS1 OPTaHH3aLHH
HACTOSILLEN HHTePHALMOHAJILHOR dKeneuuun. B aTom cayuae
Oranu TaKKe BbIHYKIeH Obl1 Obl 0CabUTb KOHTPOJIb 3@ XOAOM
paboT, HE FOBOPH YXKE 0 TOM, YTO BIOCHEACTBMH BCTaN Obl

BOTPOC O pasfiefie Marepuasa, MoJYyIeHHOIO [PH PAaCKOIKaXx.
CreloBatesibHO, B TO BPeMsi CambiM JIyUlIHMM petieHueM Oblio
HaHsiTh MoJiofloro anrmmaanuta. Haxomsics B Caukr-Iletep6yp-
re, Tatnbana Obl BBIHYKIEH HAHATH €LIE OJHOr0 «y4yacTHHKE
IKCTISULIK», PYCCKOTO, CO3/aBast Takum o0pazom oTpsif, die-
HaMK KOTOPOro GbUIK JIOAW U3 TPEX PasHbIX cTpaH. BeposTHo,
He cay4afiHo OHM He OblIH, CKaXKeM, HEMLIEM HJTH IaTYaHUHOM, 2
MMEHHO DYCCKHM W aHIJIMYaHHHOM, TO €CTh SIBASUIMCH NPeNCTa-
BUTEJISIMK [BYX EPIKAB, KOTOPbIE HMEJIH CBOMX NTPCACTABKHTE/EH
Ha reppuroprui CHHbLI3SHA B TO BpeMsl.

Ho cam TatGana Obin TOXKE CMLIKOM MOJIOA, YTOObI HMETb
CKOJTbKO-HHOY/Ib 3HAUMTEJILHYIO TIOAFOTOBKY B apXEOJIOTHH.
XOTsi K 3TOMY BPEMEHU OH YK€ TIPOBEJI /1Ba IO/la B IKCMEIULIHUSAX
u packornkax B Bocrounom Typkecrate, ¢ npodeccroHanbHOH
TOUKH 3PEHHs OH He Gbil JiydlIel KaHauaaTypo# Ast BoINONHE -
HAsT Takoi 3ajiaud. Ero 4yacTo KPUTHKOBAAM Kak 3a HeEyJloBJie-
TBOPUTEJIBHOE JIOKYMEHTHPOBAHKHE HAXOUOK, TaK W 3a pas-
pYUIEHHSI, KOTODbIM OH MOJBEpraj HcclejyeMble FOponuLLa®,
Oraug, 10JKHO GbITh 3HAJL, YeM OH PUCKyeT, Harpasass Tatu-
GaHy, ¥, TEM He MeHee, OH BbiGpaJ ero Ast BTOPOH U TPeThel
sKeneauuni. KoneuHo ke, BasKHble HAyYHbIe Pe3yJsTaThl rpe-
JIGIYUIET0 MyTEUIeCTBHS CEPhE3HO CBHALTRNILCTBOBANH B T10J1b-
3y MOJIOAOTO HCCJIe0BATEIs.

Ha 70T pa3 sxenenuuus He UCHLITHLIBANA HUKAKKX [1PersT-
CTBHH CO CTOPOHBI PYCCKHX W GpuTaHcKux Bracteil. OcHOBHOM
NPUUMHON TAKOM JIOSTLHOCTH €O CTOPOHBI BenukoGpuTanuu
6bIIO TO, UTO MakapTHy K TOMY BPEMEHH BEPHYJICS U3 OTIyCKa
B Kaiurap u uto y Hero Gbiyio GoJibliie OMbITa B HAOJIIOJCHKH 38
Hay4YHbIMU SKCMEUIHSMH, NOCELIABIUUMH PErHOH, UeM y Karlu-
tana [UarmiBopra. Kpome Toro, ofiiecTsenHas Kamrauus,
nposenenHast OTanu Bo Bpemst npebuisanust B Jlonaone, coirpa-
J1a BaXKHYIO poJib B TOM, Wto estrenbHocth TatuGatbl 1 apxeo-
JIOTHYECKUE HAXOAKH €ro MepBOro NyTeliecTBUs CTajik H3BECT-
Hbl WHpoKol ryGauke. B Tedenne nepsoil nososuss 1910
JIOCTHMKEHHUS] MOJIOZOTO SIIOHCKOTO YYeHOro OblIM NPUBHAHbI
TaKHMH BeyLUMMH yueHbIMU U apxeosiorami, kKak Pocc, Jlekok,
Creitn u Tepun. )

Hayunas penyrauus Tatu6anbl, Ge3ycioBHo, NOBJMsIA Ha
OTHOLLEHHE K HEMY WHJMICKOTO MPABUTENLCTBA, B JOKYMEHTaX

22 A. Creiin HEOAHOKDATHO OT3LIBAJICH KPUTHUECKH 0 noceitenni Tatubanoi
Mupana. Tak, nanpumep, B kyphase «Innermost Asia» (Oxford, 1928,
pp. 171—172) ox nucan o paspytueHusx, npuyunenisix Tatubanoii
HACTEHHBIM POCIHCsM B Mupatie, KOTOpbie OH OCTAaBHJI HA MECTE PACKOTIOK
¥3-34 TOTO, YTO OHH OKA3AIHCH CIIULIKOM XPYTTKHMH JUIst ICPEBO3KH.

mistrust was directed not so much against Nomura personally
but Japanese presence in the area in general. During the
months he spent in London, perhaps after learning some of the
details regarding the causes behind their difficulties with the
Indian Government, Otani changed his initial plan and decided
to minimize its “Japaneseness” by diluting it with English and
Russian participants.

But cooperating with foreign explorers and scholars would
have created an array of new problems, not the least of which
would have been the added time required for organizing a
genuine international expedition. Also, Otani would have had to
relinquish some control of the operations, not to mention the
division of the final spoils of the excavations. Therefore, at the
time it probably seemed that the best and most efficient solu-
tion was to advertise for a young Englishman. Once in
St. Petersburg, Tachibana was to hire yet another “participant”
in the person of a Russian boy, thus creating a team that had
members from three different countries. It was probably not a
coincidence that these members were not, say, German or
Danish, but Russian and British, thus representing the two
powers who had representatives on the territory of Xinjiang at
the time.

To be sure, Tachibana himself was too young to have under-
gone any substantial archaeological training. Although by this
time he had already spent two years travelling and excavating in
Xinjiang, he was probably still not the best choice for the task
professionally. Indeed, in later years he was often criticized for
both the poor documentation of his finds and the damage afflict-
ed to the sites.22 Otani must have been aware of such risks with
regard to Tachibana, yet he chose him for both the second and
third expeditions. Of course, the important scientific results of
the previous trip spoke strongly in favor of the young explorer.

This time the expedition did not experience any difficulties
with the Russian or British authorities. One of the main reasons
for this from the British side was that by that time Macartney
was back in Kashgar following his leave and he has had much
more experience with scientific expeditions passing through the
region than Captain Shuttleworth. Beside this, the publicity
campaign orchestrated by Otani during their stay in London
also played an important role in making Tachibana and the
archaeological material of his previous trip known to the gene-
ral public. During the first half of 1910, the achievements of the
young Japanese explorer were widely acknowledged by leading
scholars and archaeologists, including Ross, Le Coq, Stein,
and Hedin.

Stein wrote critically more than once about Tachibana’s visit to Miran. In
Innermost Asia (Oxford, 1928, pp. 171—172), for example, he refers to a
damage caused by Tachibana to those Miran wall paintings he had left in

situ as too delicate to attempt to-move.



Kkotoporo o nososy TaruGanbi u ero jearesbocrd B 1909 1.
XPaHHTCS! BLIPE3KA W3 CTATbH O €T0 HCCIEA0BAHUSIX, OMYOJHKO-
pannast B «The Times»®. B a710# cTaThe KOPPECMOHIACHT H3
KanbKyTThl 04eHb JIecTHO Hamucai 06 SKCIeHLIHH, BEPOsTHO,
TIPOJIMB CBET HA HEKOTOPbIE CTOPOHLI €€ JIesITeBHOCTH, KOTO-
phie paHee Kasajuch TM0J03pHTE/bHbIMU. COOTBETCTBEHHO,
KOIJla CeKPEeTHast KOPPECTIOHACHLHA O JIBYX SITOHCKUX HCCe0-
BaTessix Gblia cobpana, 8 gespans 1910 r. nomouHnk cexpera-
psi Caeiasl CeYIONLyIo IIOMETKY Ha nanke ¢ jiesiom: «CmoTpu
seyiepkky us “The Times” ot 3 ¢espans, NPUKIEEHHYIO Ha
o6opoTe Jwicta omyck 1582, 1o nopojty Apyroro oGbACHEHHS
nesTenbHocTy rocnoauta Tatu6ansl. Ecth Bce ocHOBaHHA rona-
rarh, 4YTO ITOT YeJOBEeK JHEHCTBUTEILHO 3aHAMAJICS aPXeOJIori-
eif M TOJIbKO B CBOGOIHOE BpeMs coGupaeT HHMOPMALHIO st
CBOEro TPABUTEJLCTBA» %,

YuuThiBas JOBOJBHO-TAKH GOJDILOE KOJNWIECTBO JIOKYMEH-
TOB 0 BO3MOXKHOH LIMHOHCKOH AesitesibHocTy TaTuGatbl, 37O
3aMeyaHue ABIRETCS Kak Obl MIPH3HAHUEM TOFO, UTO M JIOKIabl
Pa3Be/IKH, U BbIBOJbI O HEM ObllM OLIHOOUHBIMH. B peayaprate
BO Bpemsi cBoero Hooro nyremectsus 1910—1912 rr. Taru-
Gaua Gblst BHE [I003PEHHUT U He BCTPEUAs HHKAKKX IPeNsaTCTBHi
o cTOpoHb BpuTanckux Biacreit B Bocrounom Typkecrane.

23 Exploration in Chinese Turkestan. In The Times. February 3, 1910.
24 L/P&S/10/55/240.

202

Tachibana’s academic reputation certainly influenced the
staff of the Indian Government, whose files on Tachibana’s sus-
picious activities in 1909 include a cutout of the article on his
exploration published in The Times.® In this report a corre-
spondent from Calcutta describes the expedition in very flat-
tering terms, perhaps shedding light on several activities that
had been suspicious earlier. Accordingly, when the secret
correspondence on the two Japanese explorers was filed on
February 8, 1910 the Under Secretary added the following
note on the cover of the file: See extract from “Times” of
3 Febi{uary], pasted on back of docket paper 1582 below for
another version of Mr. Tachibana’s activities. It is not unreaso-
nable to suppose that this man’s business was archaeological,
and that in his leisure moments he collected what information
he could for his government.?* ‘

Considering the relatively large amount of documentation
discussing Tachibana’s likely involvement in espionage, this
comment is almost equal to admitting that the intelligence
reports and the conclusions about him had been mistaken all
along. As a result, on his new trip Tachibana was not under sus-
picion and experienced no difficulties with British authorities in
Xinjiang.

23 “Exploration in Chinese Turkestan”. In The Times. February 3, 1910.
2 L/P&S/10/55/240.
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